PAIR INVESTMENT
COMPANY LIMITED

Financial Statements for the
Year Ended December 31, 2024




.PA'I'R
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CHAIRMAN’s REVIEW FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

It is my pleasure to share with you the Financial Statements of PAIR Investment Company Limited (“the
Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2024.

With the patronage from both the shareholders the growth of the Company continues in a consistent
manner and seems fairly and reasonably certain in the foreseeable future. The whole management team
is fully functional and is geared towards increasing the business and strengthening the Company for the
years ahead.

Following aggressive and unprecedented interest rate hikes, 2024 saw a series of rate cuts, totaling 900
basis points on an aggregate basis. While this was a welcome relief for businesses struggling with rising
operational costs, it had a negative impact on the Company's floating-rate assets. Additionally, assets

generating fine spreads now require a disproportionately higher volume to maintain the same level of
income.

Despite these challenges, the Company posted a profit before provisions of PKR 1.0 billion, compared to
PKR 1.3 billion in the previous year when interest rates were significantly higher. However, credit loss
allowances and net write-offs surged to PKR 573.7 million, an increase of PKR 402.8 million from the prior
year. A substantial portion of these provisions stemmed from investments in private debt securities of
well-established companies within their respective industries. Unfortunately, the prevailing economic
challenges have severely impacted these businesses, forcing them to restructure their obligations to
lenders.The management is actively engaged with each of these borrowers and remains confident that
these are not willful defaulters. Recovery prospects remain strong, and the logistics of the repayment
process will be finalized in consultation with stakeholders in due course.

Additionally, the capital markets team capitalized on market movements, generating PKR 198 miilion in
realized gains from the sale of securities classified as FVOCI.

The Company’s assets continued to grow organically, reaching PKR 40.44 billion—an 11% increase over
the previous year. While the number of borrowers and depositors expanded, the Company remained
focused on enhancing its systems and processes. Following the acquisition of new software, the
implementation of the credit module, along with the deployment and testing of the treasury module, was
successfully completed during the year.

The Asset and Liability Committee continues to oversee the Company's asset profile, ensuring that asset
booking and fund generation remain aligned with prevailing economic conditions. Efforts are underway
to diversify funding sources while steadily expanding the customer base. As a result, several new clients
have been added to the portfolio, with more expected to join on both the asset side and the liability side,
particularly in the Certificate of Investment (COIl) segment.
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| sincerely appreciate the unwavering support of all our stakeholders, including Iran Foreign Investments
Company, the Ministry of Finance — Government of Pakistan, the State Bank of Pakistan, and the
Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan, for their invaluable guidance and cooperation.

| would also like to extend my gratitude to our dedicated staff and colleagues for their commitment,
teamwork, and perseverance. Their collective efforts in embracing new initiatives and driving the
Company's progress have been instrumental in our continued success.

Yropd—

Zulfigar Younas

Acting Chairman of the Board of Directors
February 15, 2024

Pakistan
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PAIR INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present the Financial Statements of PAIR Investment
Company Limited (PAIR) for the year ended December 31, 2024. These Financial Statements have been

prepared in compliance with the requirements of BPRD Circular No. 10 dated November 27, 2018, and BPRD
Circular No. 2 dated February 09, 2023.

Economic Overview:

In the calendar year 2024, Pakistan's economy showed signs of recovery following a challenging period marked
by recession in 2023. The country's GDP growth
rebounded to approximately 2.5%, driven primarily
by a significant increase in agricultural production.
This  recovery was aided by improved
macroeconomic conditions, including lower inflation
and reduced political uncertainty. Continued
financial support and stabilization programs from
international organizations like the IMF provided
essential liquidity and bolstered foreign exchange
reserves.

The government's fiscal consolidation measures during calendar year 2024 had several significant impacts on
the economy. Total revenue rose, primarily driven by higher non-tax revenues, including collections from the
petroleum development levy and profits from the State Bank of Pakistan. This growth in revenue allowed for
better funding of essential services and infrastructure projects. The current account deficit (CAD) narrowed
significantly. Largely due to reduced imports and improved export performance driven by agricultural
recovery. This helped stabilize foreign exchange reserves and strengthen the currency.

The interest rate movements in Pakistan during CY 2024 showcased a responsive monetary policy approach
by the State Bank of Pakistan. Substantial cutin the

policy rate was seen as inflation pressures eased. 200w 2200% ,_,mpohct::?

Monetary Policy Committee of State Bank of e i

Pakistan closely monitored the inflation trends and 050K 15 50m

economic growth indicators throughout the year, : s oom

bring down an all-time high of 22% to 13% by end = ™

of December 2024. Their decisions reflected a

balancing act between stimulating economic

growth and controlling inflation. The cuts were

intended to stimulate economic activity amid signs

of recovery, aimed to support sectors affected by

high borrowing costs while ensuring that inflation remained within manageable limits. The decision to lower
interest rates was largely influenced by a significant decline in inflation rates, which fell to 4.1% in December
2024, down from higher levels earlier in the year. This decline was attributed to reduced food inflation and
the fading effects of previous energy price hikes.

Though PSX experienced periods of volatility, including a historic single-day gain of 4,700 points and a decline
of 4,800 points, reflecting both investor excitement and apprehension amid rapid market movements. Overall,
2024 was a landmark year for the PSX, characterized by remarkable returns for investors and significant
advancements in trading activity and market capitalization. The stock market's growth was bolstered by
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macroeconomic stabilization efforts, including interest rate cuts and a strengthening currency following
successful negotiations with the IMF for financial support. The benchmark KSE-100 index surged by
approximately 84%, closing at around 115,127 points by the end of December 2024 versus 62,451 points at
the end of December 2023, indicating a robust recovery and investor confidence in the market. Trading activity
reached unprecedented levels, with a total volume of 1.24 billion shares traded throughout the year, nearly
double that of 2023. The daily average traded value was around PKR 22.1 billion, reflecting heightened investor
participation and enthusiasm. The overall market capitalization of listed companies rose significantly, reaching
approximately PKR 14.6 trillion. Despite foreign investors selling shares worth about USD100.45 million, the
overall market demonstrated resilience and continued to attract local and international interest, particularly

due to improved macroeconomic conditions and potential reclassification into the MSCI Emerging Markets
Index.

Financial Highlights

Despite a challenging year in which asset creation required a careful balance between asset type and the
Company's risk appetite, total assets increased by approximately PKR 4 billion, reaching PKR 40.44 billion as
of December 31, 2024, compared to PKR 36.44 billion the previous year. Net investments grew by
approximately PKR 3.72 billion, reflecting a 14% increase from December 31, 2023. Meanwhile, advances saw
a marginal rise of PKR 48.30 million, maintaining a breakeven position. The management exercised caution in
fresh disbursements, recognizing the ripple effects of high interest rates and rising business costs, which have
placed significant financial strain on many businesses. Even borrowers with strong credit histories have faced
increasing financial pressures. These challenges contributed to some additions to the non-performing
portfolio, necessitating additional provisions. While consistent balance sheet growth remains a key objective
for management, the Board, and shareholders, they collectively uphold the principle that it must not come at
the expense of asset quality. Accordingly, the Company's growth strategy has prioritized investments while
keeping advances stable, ensuring a prudent and balanced approach to financial management.

The operational performance of the components comprising the Profit and Loss account, along with income
realized directly in equity, remained strong. This resilience enabled the Company to absorb the impact of
provisioning requirements, both for newly classified non-performing loans (NPLs) and the residual provisions
arising from the adoption of IFRS-9. Net revenue from funds stood at PKR 1.4 billion, reflecting a shortfall of
PKR 294 million compared to the previous year. This decline was primarily due to the reversal of PKR 200
million in income on an exposure classified during the year. Total income amounted to PKR 1.5 billion, down
from PKR 1.9 billion in the prior year. While the aforementioned income reversal contributed to this decline,

lower dividend income also played a role, as the average investment level remained subdued following
divestments in the last quarter of 2023.

In addition to these Profit and Loss impacts, the realized gain on the sale of securities classified as FVOCI (Fair

Value Through Other Comprehensive Income) amounted to PKR 198.1 million, representing a 20% increase
over the previous year's gain of PKR 164.7 million.

Administrative expenses were tightly controlled, aligning with the income fluctuations experienced during the

year. However, operational performance was impacted by unexpected provisions required for debt securities
issued by the private sector.

The major provisioning was made against clients who are well-established names in their respective industries.
However, the recent economic cycle has adversely affected their businesses. Management remains actively
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engaged with these borrowers and is optimistic about the full recovery of classified loans. Many of these
clients have either proposed restructuring plans for their financial obligations or appointed advisors to oversee
the restructuring on their behalf.

A total of PKR 724.5 million was provided as a diminution in the value of investments during the year. On the
non-performing loans front, major cash recoveries amounted to PKR 152.51 million, while a net reversal of
PKR 348.4 million was recorded. Additionally, PKR 197.5 million was written off during the year following a
court settlement of a legacy non-performing account.

Credit Rating

Pakistan Credit Rating Agency Limited (PACRA) has reaffirmed PAIR Investment Company Ltd.'s long-term
entity rating at ‘AA’ (Double A) and short-term entity rating at ‘A1+ (A-One Plus). These ratings reflect a very
low expectation of creditrisk, signifying the company’s strong ability to meet its financial obligationsin a timely
manner. The ratings are primarily driven by the joint sovereign ownership of PAIR by Pakistan and Iran, which
underscores the stability and financial strength of the company

Statement of Internal Controls

The Board is pleased to endorse the statement made by management relating to internal controls including
management’s evaluation of ICFR. The Management's Statement on Internal Controls is included in the Annual
Report.

Corporate and Financial Reporting Framework

The Board of Directors of PAIR, for the purpose of establishing a framework of good corporate governance,
has implemented the relevant provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance for the year ended December
31, 2024. Review report on the Statement of Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance from the

external auditors is annexed with this report. As required under the Code of Corporate Governance, the Board
of Directors states that:

. The financial statements prepared by the management of PAIR present fairly its state of affairs, the
results of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity.

° Proper books of accounts of the Company have been maintained.

e Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied in the preparation of the financial
statements and accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment.

s International Accounting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan, have been followed in the preparation
of the financial statements and any departure therefrom has been adequately disclosed.

° As a continuous process, efforts have been made to effectively implement the internal control system.
An effective and sound system of internal control is in place in accordance with the requirements of
the regulatory authorities.

° There is no doubt regarding PAIR's ability to continue as a going concern.
. There has been no material departure from the best practices of the Code of Corporate Governance.
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. Key operating and financial data for the years 2015-2024 in a summarized form is included in the
annual report.

® The tax outstanding amount and reason thereon are properly disclosed in the attached financial
statements.

Risk Management Framework

Taking cognizance of various types of business risks, an effective risk management framework is embedded
in PAIR’s strategy and organization structure. An independent Credit and Risk Management Department
(“CRMD”) is working as a core function to strengthen Company-wide Risk Management activities by adopting
Basel 11/1ll Framewaork. PAIR is fully compliant with the Capital Adequacy Requirements of the State Bank of

Pakistan under the Standardized Approach for Credit and Market Risk and Basic Indicator Approach for
Operational Risk.

The prevailing economic situation has led the company to set its focus towards the deployment of stringent
risk management policies to assess, mitigate and monitor major risks associated with business operations of
the company. Accordingly, the Company has established a set of activities and creates core functions to
administer, manage and report in order to complement its core business objectives and to remain abreast

with the latest developments & challenges to safeguard shareholders’ interests & enhance Shareholder’s
wealth.

The Company has implemented a robust Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment. Process (ICAAP) to establish
more Risk Sensitive Assessment, Capital planning, formalization of Company-wide Risk Appetite, and to
remain abreast of the internal and external risks that may impact future operations of the company. The
deployment of this process allowed adequate management of capital as the Capital Adequacy Ratio stood at
38.27% against the regulatory requirement of 11.50% including Capital Conservation Buffer (CCB) of 1.5%.
This contributed to the development of risk appetite and concentration levels with respect to the transaction
level risk profiling as well as integrated portfolic management. '

PAIR also periodically evaluates the organic strength of business by conducting Stress Testing of overall risk
exposure. It helps to ensure the smooth operations of the business under hypothetically stressed
circumstances. For this, CRMD applies shocks on different risk factors including interest rate, credit, equity
price, and liquidity. Results of the latest stress testing exercise depict the solid and resilient financial position
of the Company. The stress testing methodology implemented by PAIR is in adherence to SBP guidelines.

The Credit & Risk Management Department is also involved in the development of entity-wide policies,
procedures, systems, and reporting mechanisms to achieve and maintain entity-wide best rating status and
adaption of risk management principals in true letter and spirit. Further, the Board Risk Management
Committee and Board of Directors of the Company, oversee the strategy related to risk management. In
addition, the Internal Audit department conducts independent, risk-based review and verification of major
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functions throughout the year for evaluation of control systems supplemented by Internal Control and
Compliance Divisions. :

Events after the Date of Statement of Financial Position

There have not been any material events that occurred subsequent to the date of the statement of
the financial position that requires adjustments to the enclosed financial statements, except those
which have already been made or disclosed.

Corporate Social Responsibility

PAIR Investment Company Limited is deeply committed to its corporate social responsibility, which is an
integral part of our corporate culture. We firmly believe that our obligations extend well beyond profitability,
encompassing a strong commitment to our employees, society, and the environment

At PAIR Investment Company Ltd., we take great pride in supporting our employees. Each year, we sponsor
one staff member to perform the Hajj, ensuring fairness through a transparent balloting process. In our
commitment to fostering an inclusive environment, we are dedicated to providing opportunities that
empower our female team members, encouraging their active participation in driving economic progress. Our
goal is to cultivate goodwill and strengthen our collective bond as a team.

We are equally honored to continue our philanthropic efforts by making ongoing donations to various
institutions. It is important to emphasize that all directors, executives, and th_eir spouses have no personal
interests in these charitable initiatives, ensuring transparency and reinforcing our commitment to creating a
positive impact in the communities we serve.

As a joint venture between two brotherly countries, we are also committed to supporting charitable
organizations and projects of Iranian origin, in compliance with all relevant rules and regulations. During the
year the Company paid donations to the following institutions where none of the directors, executives or their
spouses had any interest in the done (Donation/Charity):

Name of the Institution PKR ‘000

Sindh Institute of Urology and Transplantation 3,000
Patient Aid Foundation 1,025
Layton Rahmatullah Benevolent Trust : 1,463
The Citizen Foundation 1,080
Iranian School Managed Locally 2,384

Board of Directors

Six (6) Board Meetings were held during the year 2024. The director(s) who were not able to attend any of the
meeting(s) were duly granted a leave of absence by the Board. The directors of the company attended the
meetings, as under:
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Name of Director Category Representing Meetings Attended
Aamer Mahmood Hussain - Director Non-_execurwe MOF-Pakistan 6
Director
Zulfigar Younas — Director Non-execitive MOF-Pakistan 6
Director
Dr. Mohammad Hussein Mohammadi** Non—:execunve IFIC -Iran - 4
Director
; ; Non- j
Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian SiexbouEs IFIC -Iran 3
Director
Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibodi — Executive
. IFIC -Iran 5]
MD/CEO Director

*Mr. Arif Ahmed Khan appointed os chairman of the Board, resigned from the board on 25 March 2019. Thereafter the meetings are
presided by acting chairman of the board with the unanimous consensus of the board members.

The remuneration paid to Directors for participation in Board and Committee Meetings is disclosed in note 37.2 to the financial
statements. '

** Dr. Mohammad Hussein Mohammadi was appointed s Iranian Board Member in place of Mr, Gholamreza Khalil Arjmandi on 15
April, 2024.

Board Committees

Four (4) meetings of Board Audit Committee (BAC), Four (4) meetings of Board Risk Management Committee
(BRMC), Three (2) meetings of Board Human Resource Committee (BHRCC) and Three (3) meeting of Board
Strategic Investment Committee (BSIC) were held during 2024, '

The member(s) who were not able to attend any of the meeting(s) were duly granted leave of absence by the
committee. The details of the meetings attended by each committee member are as under:

Name of Director Representing  Designation and No. of Meetings Attended
name of

committee

MOE- Chairman - BAC
Aamer Mahmood Hussain pakictain Member - BHRC 2
Chairman - BRMC 4

MOF- Chairman - BSIC 3
Pakistan Chairman - BHRC 2
Member - BAC 2
Dr. Mohammad Hussein Mohammadi | IFIC -Iran Member - BSIC | 2
Member - BRMC 2 '
Member - BAC 2
Member - BHRC 1
Member - BSIC 1
Member - BRMC 2
Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibodi — IFIC -Iran Member - BHRC 2
MD/CEO Member - BSIC 3
| Member - BRMC 4

Zulfigar Younas

Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian IFIC -Iran
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Staff End of Service Benefits

The Company operates two post-retirement funds, Provident Fund & Gratuity Fund. The carrying value of
investments and bank balance respective funds as at December 31, 2024, were:

Value of the Investments and Provident Fund Gratuity Fund
Bank Balances
PKR ‘000
2024 — Un Audited 103,075 182,966
2023 - Audited 76,490 -140,381

Earnings Per Share

Basic and Diluted earnings per share have been disclosed in note 32 of the financial statements.

Pattern of Shareholding

Shareholders Shareholding
Government of Pakistan through the Ministry of Finance 50%
Government of Iran through Iran Foreign Investment Company 50%
Total 100%

Appointment of Auditors

The current auditors, M/s. Yousuf Adil & Co., Chartered Accountants, have retired and, being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Following the recommendation
of the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors proposes that shareholders appoint M/s. Yousuf Adil & Co.,
Chartered Accountants, as the company’s statutory auditors for the financial year ending December 31, 2024

Future Outlook

While economy shows signs of stabilization with declining inflation and supportive monetary policies,
achieving sustainable growth will require addressing fiscal deficits, implementing structural reforms, and
ensuring adherence to international standards in governance and human rights. The International Monetary
Fund has revised Pakistan's projected GDP growth for 2025 to 3%, a slight decrease from the earlier forecast
of 3.2%. This adjustment underscores the persistent economic hurdles the ccuritry faces.

In line with management’s assessment, 2024 provided the much-needed clarity and sense of direction to the
business community while we will work on the expanding the loan book it would be strictly monitored and
reviewed for any signs of weaknesses in the venerable clients having faced a long spell of economic and
sustainability challenges for the last few years. Onboarding will be done where the assessment and judgement
can be made with sufficient reliability. Investments in debt securities will continue to provide the much need
earnings support while challenges internal to the company will be managed through alternative solutions.
Management will be continued to lock for the avenues for the non-funded income. Seemingly an agile and
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continuous alignment of the internal policies would be required hence active assetand liabilities management
is planned for 2025 by the management of the Company.

Appreciation and Acknowledgement

We would like to take this opportunity to express our sincere gratitude to our customers and business partners
for placing their trust in us during these challenging times. We assure them of our unwavering commitment
to upholding high service standards and maintaining a strong culture of corporate governance and compliance
in all our endeavors. We also extend our heartfelt appreciation to the Iran Foreign Investment Company, the
Ministry of Finance - Government of Pakistan, the State Bank of Pakistan, and the Securities & Exchange
Commission of Pakistan for their valuable guidance and support. Finally, we thank our associates, staff, and
colleagues for their continued dedication, enthusiasm, and loyalty to the growth and success of the company.

\

Zulfigar Younas Abbas Daps

e SV

hvar Hakimi Meibodi
Acting Chairman of the Board of Directors Managing Director/ Chief Executive Office

February 15, 2025

Karachi, Pakistan
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF PAIR
INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED

Review Report on the Statement of Compliance contained in Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the best practices of The Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of PAIR Investment
Company Limited (the Company) for the year ended December 31, 2024 in accordance with the requirements of the
Regulations to the extent as adopted by the Company.

The responsibility for voluntary compliance with the Regulations (as adopted) is that of the Board of Directors of the
Company. Our responsibility is to review, to the extent where such compliance can be objectively verified, whether the
Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company’s compliance with the provisions of the Regulations (as
adopted) and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance with the requirements of the Regulations (as
adopted). A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Company's personnel and review of various documents
prepared by the Company to comply with the Regulations (as adopted).

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the accounting and
internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit approach. We are not required to
consider whether the Board of Directors’ statement on internal control covers all risks and controls or to form an
opinion on the effectiveness of such internal controls, the Company's corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Regulations (as adopted) require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation
of the Audit Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval, its related party transactions.
We are only required and have ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the approval of the related party
transactions by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Committee.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement of Compliance
does not appropriately reflect the Company’s compliance, in all material respects, with the requirements contained in
the Regulations as adopted by the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024. We draw attention to the following
matters described in the enclosed Statement:

o The Regulations are not applicable on Development Financial Institutions (DFIs) vide BPRD Circular No. 14
dated October 20, 2016 issued by the State Bank of Pakistan. However, the Company has voluntarily adopted
certain provisions of the Regulations as mentioned in the enclosed statement.

The engagement partner on the review resulting in this independent auditor's review report is Hena Sadiq.
harteréd Accountants

Place: Karachi
Date: March 12, 2024
UDIN: CR202410057I0Ebm5yuJ




Statement of Compliance with best practice of the
Code of Corporate Governance

PAIR Investment Company Limited '
Year ended December 31, 2024 : PATR

SBP vide BPRD Circular no.14 dated October 20, 2016 has advised that the requirement in terms of
Prudential Regulation G-1 with regards to the applicability of Code of Corporate Governance issued by
the Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) shall not be applicable on DFIs. However, it
is expected that all DFis will continue to follow the best practices of Corporate Governance.

Accordingly, the Company, has adopted certain provisions of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate
Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the ‘Regulations’), as applicable.

Accordingly, the Statement of Compliance prescribed by SECP as given below has been adjusted to the
extent the same has been adopted by the Company.

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the following manner:

As per the joint venture arrangement between Government of Pakistan and Government of
iran, the Company’s Board of Directors comprises of six directors and all directors are
nominated by both the shareholders. The Company encourages representation of non-
executive directors on its Board of Directors (the Board). At present the Board includes
following five Directars:

Category | Names
Executive Director Mr. Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibadi
Non-Executive Directors Mr. Zulfigar Younas

Mr. Aamer Mahmood Hussain
Dr. Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian
Dr. Mohammad Hussein Mohammadi

All the resident directors of the Company are registered as taxpayers and none of them has

defaulted in payment of any loan to a banking company, a DFI ar an NBFl or, being a member
of a stock exchange, has been declared as a defaulter by that stock exchange.

3. The Company has prepared a “Code of Conduct” and has ensured that appropriate steps have
been taken to disseminate it throughout the Company along with its supporting policies and
procedures.

The Board has developed a vision/mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant
policies of the Company. The Board has ensured that complete record of particulars of
significant policies along with their date of approval or updating is maintained by the Company,

5. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have

been taken by the Board as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these
Regulations (as adopted).
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The Board has a formal policy and transparent procedure for remuneration of directors in
accordance with the directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan and the Regulations.

There was no change of Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal Audit and Company Secretary.

The Board has approved the remuneration of CFO, Head of Internal Audit Department and
Company Secretary;

The Directors’ report for this year has been prepared in compliance with the requirements of
the CCG and fully describes the salient matters required to be disclosed.

Chief financial officer and the Chief Executive Officer duly endorsed the financial statements
before approval of the Board;

10. The Directors, CEO and executives do not hold any interest in the shares of the Company other

than that disclosed in the pattern of shareholding.

The Company has complied with all the corporate and financial reporting requirements of the
Cca.

. The Board has formed committees comprising of members given below:

a) Board Audit Committee (BAC):

Name of Director Category

Mr. Aamer Mahmood Hussain Non-executive / Chairman
Dr. Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian Non-executive / Member

Mr. Mohammad Hussain Mohammadi Non-executive / Member

n) Board HR Compensation Committee {BHRCC):

Name of Director Category

Mr. Zulfigar Younas Non-executive / Chairman
Mr. Aamer Mahmood Hussain Non-executive / Member
Mr. Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibodi Executive Director / Member
Dr. Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian Non-executive / Member

¢) Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC):

Name of Director Category
Mr. Aamer Mahmood Hussain Non-executive / Chairman
Mr. Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibodi Executive Director / Member
Mr. Mohammad Hussain Mchammadi Non-executive / Member
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d) Board Strategic Investment Committee {BSIC):
Name of Director Category
Mr. Zulfigar Younas Non-executive / Chairman
Mr. Mohammad Hussain Mohammadi Non-executive / Member
Mr. Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibodi Executive Director / Member

:. The frequency of Board & Committee meetings were as per following;

(2] Board of Directors Meeting: Minimum quarterly meetings of the BOD were held, the details
of which are as under:

Sr. No. Particulars of Meeting Date of Meetings
1 75™ BOD Meeting 18-Feb-24
2 76" BOD Meeting 26-May-24
3 77" BOD Meeting 23-Jun-24
4 78t BOD Meeting 25-Aug-24
5 79" BOD Meeting 27-Oct-24
6 80" BOD Meeting 21-Dec-24

(b) Audit Committee: Minimum quarterly meetings of the Audlt Committee were held, the
details of which are as under:

Sr. No. Particulars of Meeting Date of Meetings
1 65 BAC Meeting 17-Feb-24
2 66" BAC Meeting 25-May-24
3 67 BAC Meeting 25-Aug-24
4 68" BAC Meeting 26-Oct-24

(c) Board Human Resource and Compensation Committee: The Board HRCC Committee met
two times during the year, the details of which are as under:

Sr. No.  Particulars of Meeting Date of Meetings
1 42" BHRCC Meeting 17-Feb-24
2 43 BHRCC Meeting 25-May-24

(d) Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC): The BRMC met quarterly during the year, the
details of which are as under:

Sr. No.  Particulars of Meeting Date of Meetings-
1 50" BRMC Meeting 17-Feb-24
2 51 BRMC Meeting 26-May-24
3 52" BRMC Meeting 25-Aug-24
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4 53" BRMC Meeting 26-Oct-24 \J/

(e) Board Strategic Investment Committee (8SIC): The BSIC met on following dates during the
year, details of which are as under:

Sr. No. Particulars of Meeting Date of Meetings
1 25" BSIC Meeting 25-May-24
2 26" BSIC Meeting 27-Oct-24
3 27" BSIC Meeting 21-Dec-24

14. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and
advised to the committee for compliance.

15. The Board has set up an effective internal audit function, which is considered suitably qualified

and experienced for the purpose and are conversant with the policies and procedures of the
Company.

16. The statutory auditors of the company have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory
rating under the Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Pakistan and registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners
are in compliance with International Federation of Accountants {IFAC) guidelines on code of
ethics as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the
partners of the firm involved in the audit are not a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent
and non-dependent children) of the chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief internal
auditor, company secretary or director of the company.

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide
other services except in accordance with the Act, these Regulations or any other regulatory

requirement and the auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this
regard; and

18. We confirm that all requirements of regulations 3, 8, 32, 33 and 36 of the Regulations have
been complied with.

Py

Abbas Danes
MD /

fvar Hakimi Meibodi Zulfigar Younas

Acting Chairman

4|Page Statement of Compliance with best practice of the Code of Corporate Governance
Year ended December 31, 2024
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Statement Of Internal Controls ‘ z
Year ended December 31, 2024 3 :
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This statement is being issued in compliance with the Guidelines on Internal Controls, issued by
the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) vide BSD Circular No. 7 dated May 27, 2004. Paragraph 7a of the

SBP guidelines on Internal Controls requires all Banks and DFIs to assess their internal controls
and their effectiveness.

Evaluation of Internal Control Systems by Management

The management of the PAIR Investment Company Limited (“DFI”) is responsible for (i) preparing
the DFI’s annual financial statements in accordance with the approved accounting standards as
applicable in Pakistan, and (ii) establishing and maintaining an adequate internal control
structure and procedures for financial reporting.

The management of PAIR Investment Company Limited maintains an effective organization
structure and instituting appropriate control procedures and monitors the
adequacy/effectiveness of internal control systems. The Board of Directors is ultimately
responsible for ensuring that an adequate and effective System of Internal Controls is established

and efforts are made to implement sound control procedures and to maintain a suitable control
environment. '

The management of PAIR Investment Company Limited has adopted internationally accepted
COSO Integrated Framework, in accordance with the guidelines on Internal Controls from the
State Bank of Pakistan and has completed all stages of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

(“ICFR’). In addition, DFI has formulated comprehensive guidelines for adherence to COSO
framework on continuing basis.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

At management level, the Internal Control Monitoring Committee (“ICMC”) is responsible for
monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system including ICFR, by
periodically reviewing the internal control systems and implementation of the internal control
gaps/deficiencies identified by the respective departments as a result of self-assessment, internal
auditors, external auditors and regulators reviews. The gap / recommendation report is then
submitted to ICMC which decide on priority and implementation initiatives required taking into
account nature and size of the business and cost benefit analysis of the proposed controls.



PAIR

Furthermore, it also oversees the implementation of the internal controls framework and

monitors the progress. Significant findings of testing are presented to the Audit Committee of
the Board.

As required by the SBP, Long Form report (“LFR”) on the assessment of DFI’s ICFR for the year
2023 was issued by the statutory auditors. None of the deficiencies identified are expected to
have a material impact on Financial Reporting. Respective departments have carried out testing
of the effectiveness of ICFR prevalent throughout the DFI for the year 2024. Statutory auditors
were engaged to prepare a Long Form Report on ICFR as of December 31, 2024.

The DFI is continuously making efforts to ensure that an effective and efficient Internal Control
System remains active & implemented through consistent & continuous monitoring that would
help in further improving the overall control environment.

Based upon the results achieved from reviews and audits conducted during the year,

management considers that the existing Internal Control System is adequate and has been
effectively implemented and monitored, though room for improvement always exists.

QC_QJOS@’ ‘.

Chief Financial Officer

Chief Executive Office

Date: February 14, 2025

2|Page Statement of Internal Controls
Year ended December 31, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the members of PAIR Investment Company Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed financial statements of PAIR Investment Company Limited (“the Company"), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, the statement of profit and loss account, the
statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement for the year then
ended, along with notes to the financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations which, to
the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the statement of
financial position, the statement of profit or loss account, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of
changes in equity and the cash flow statement together with the notes forming part thereof conform with the
accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, and, give the information required by the Companies Act,
2017(XIX of 2017), in the manner so required and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s
affairs as at December 31, 2024 and of the profit, the comprehensive income, the changes in equity and its cash flow
for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants’ as adopted by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
Director's report for the year ended December 31, 2024, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we concluded that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

V4
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Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, the requirements of the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of
2017) and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. ;

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company'’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide to the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeqguards.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a)  proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017);
b)  the statement of financial position, the statement of profit and loss account, the statement of comprehensive

income, the statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement together with the notes thereon have

been drawn up in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017(XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with the books of
account;

c)  investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for the purpose of the
Company's business; and

d)  No zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIil of 1980).

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Hena Sadiq

E -
harter ccountants

Place: Karachi
Date: March 12,2025
UDIN: AR202410057J8uSHI1gV




PAIR Investment Company Limited
Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2024

ASSETS

Cash and balances with treasury banks
Balances with other banks

Lendings to financial institutions
Invesiments

Advances

Property and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Deferred tax asset

Other assets

LIABILITIES

Bills payable

Borrowings

Deposits and other accounts
Lease liabilities
Subordinated loans
Deferred tax liabilities

Other liabilities

NET ASSETS

REPRESENTED BY

Share capital

Reserves

Surplus / {deficit) on revaluation of assets
Unappropriated profit

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

The annexed notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.

0

Chief Financial Officer

Managing Director

Note

=]

10
11
12

13
14

15

16
17
18

18

December 31,
2024

December 31,

2023

weeenmenss (RUPEES N '000) -eeremmeer

Chairman

213,742 158,668
288,245 296,118
25,923,281 22 650,509
10,700,180 10,651,883
557,055 486,364
12,234 8,223
576,030 441,163
2,165,681 1,747,961
40,436,448 36,441,890
23,798,678 21,788,218
4,501,237 2,724 472
1,253,335 1,347,042
29,553,250 25,860,732
10,883,198 10,581,158
6,000,000 6,000,000
1,327,571 1,247,496
280,885 124 696
3,274,742 3,208,966
10,883,198 10,581,158
Jybbind)
Director Direktor
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PAIR Investment Company Limited
Statement of Profit and Loss Account
For the year ended December 31, 2024

Mark-up / return / interest earned
Mark-up / return / interest expensed

Net mark-up / interest income

NON MARK-UP | INTEREST INCOME

Fee and Commission income

Dividend income

Foreign Exchange income / (loss)
Income / (loss) from derivatives

Gain / (loss) on securities

Net gains / (losses) on derecognition of
financial assets measured at amortised
cost

Other income

Total non mark-up / interest income

Total Income

“NON MARK-UP / INTEREST EXPENSES

Operating expenses
Workers Welfare Fund
Other charges

Total non mark-up / interest expenses
Profit before credit loss allowance

Credit loss allowance and write offs - net

PROFIT BEFORE LEVIES AND TAXATION

Levies
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Taxation

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION

Basic and diluted earnings per share

The annexed notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.

lC/ObD - ,Q&BQM ahwiw/

,.

Chief Financial Officer

___GChief Executive and
Managing Director

Note

22
23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

December 31,
2024

December 31,

2023

wasememee= (Rupees in '000) =---------

6,168,679 5,868,479
4,762,021 4.167,770
1,406,658 1,700,708
20,981 17,487
58,303 161,176
552 2,173
30,832 42 669
3,696 16
114,364 223,521
1,521,022 1,924,230
492,865 625,797
17,124 21,455
509,989 647,252
1,011,033 1,276,978
573,720 170,882
437,313 1,106,096
110,726 25,991
326,587 1,080,105
(73,790) 311,354
400,377 768,751
0.67 1.28
irecto

Director
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PAIR Investment Company Limited

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2024

Profit after taxation for the year

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to statement of profit and loss account in

subsequent periods:

Movement in surplus on revaluation of debt investments through fair value other

comprehensive income - net of tax

Items that will not be reclassified to statement of profit and loss account in

Remeasurement (loss) / gain on defined benefit abligations - net of tax
Movement in (deficit) / surplus on revaluation of investments in equity investments - net of tax
Realised gain on sale of securities classified as fair value other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

subsequent periods:

\nThe annexed notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.

k.

cep

Chief Financial Officer

lef Executive and
Managing Dlreclo]-

Chairman

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
---------- {Rupees in '000) ---==-=-—-
400,377 768,751
180,072 51,278

(2,628) 10,646
(23,883) 341,915
198,102 164,719
752,040 1,337,209

g

Director
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PAIR Investment Company Limited
Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended December 31, 2024

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation
Less: Dividend income

Adjustments:
Depreciation on owned fixed assets
Amortisation
Impairment of assets
Credit loss allowance and write-offs
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Charge for defined benefit plan
Unrealised (gain) / loss on revaluation of equity investments classified as FVPL

Decrease in operating assets
Securities classified as FVPL
Advances
Others assets (excluding advance taxation)

Increase in operating liabilities
Borrowings from financial institutions
Deposits
Other liabilities (excluding current taxation)

Levies paid
Income tax paid
Defined benefits paid

Net cash flows from operating actfviﬁes
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net Investments in securities classified as FVOCI - Debt:
Net Investments in securities classified as FVOCI - Equity
Net Investments in amortized cost securities

Dividend income received

Investments in property and equipment

Disposal of property and equipment

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividend paid
Net cash flows from financing activities

Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

The annexed notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.

X osd N

Chief Financial Officer

Executive and
Managing Director

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

e mmann (Rupees in '000) ~--~m==m-

437,313 1,106,096
(58,303) (161,176)
379,010 944,920
54,485 28,683
239 162
- 12,4086
573,720 158,342
(3,696) (16)
14,584 16,329
(15,991) 186
623,341 216,072
1,002,351 1,160,992
(191,246) (16,696)
102,574 (1,033,701)
170,793 (352,047)
82,121 (1,402,444)
2,009,460 1,453,101
1,776,765 852,862
(93,707) 494,602
3,692,518 2,900,565
4,776,930 2,659,113
(110,726) (25,991)
(720,250) (621,593)
(30,553) - (28,824)
3,915,461 1,982,705
(3,892,826) (1,603,610)
537,792
- 115,741
58,303 161,176
(126,130) (47,209)
4,650 || og |
(3,418,211) (1,373,803)
[ (450,000)|| (350,000)|
(450,000) (350,000)
47,250 258,902
454,921 196,019
502,171 454,921

Chairman ks t Lgimctﬂr g x Director




PAIR Investment Company Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended December 31, 2024

1

Opening Balance as at 01 January 2023

Impact of first time adoption of IFRS-¢

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2023

Other comprehensive income
Movement in surplus on revaluation
of investments in equity instruments - net of tax

Movement in surplus on revaluation of investments in
debt instruments - net of tax

Realized gain on sale of securities classified as FVOCI
Remeasurement gain on defined
benefit abligations - net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2023

Transfer to statutory reserve

Final cash dividend - 31 December 2022 declared
subsequent to the year end

PN, P \

e T —.

Opening Balance as at 01 January 2024

-

Total comprehensive income

Profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2024

Other comprehensive income
Movement in deficit on revaluation of investments
in equity investments - net of tax

Movement in surplus on revaluation of investments in
debt instruments - net of tax
Realised gain on sale of securities classified as FVOCI

Remeasurement gain on defined
benefit obligations - net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2024

Transfer to statutory reserve

Transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity

subsequent to the year end in 2024

i Final cash dividend - 31 December 2023 declared
Closing Balance as at 31 December 2024

)Q'\ ,\\C PQSQP.

Chief Financial Officer

Note

17

tef Executive and
Managing Director

The annexed notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Share Statutory Surp!us j Unappropriate
capital reserve —(defichjon d profit
P Investments Total
{Rupees in '000)
6,000,000 1,093,746 (268,497) 2,847,810 9,773,058
E - - (179,110) (179,110)
~ - - 768,751 768,751
- - 341,915 - 341,916
- - 51,278 - 51,278
164,719 164,719
= = “ 10,5486 10,546
- - 393,183 944,016 1,337,209
- 163,750 - (153,750) -
. - - (350,000)  (350,000)
6,000,000 1,247,496 124,696 3,208,966 10,581,158
- - - 400,377 400,377
- - (23,883) - (23,883)
- - 180,072 - 180,072
188,102 188,102
= ) 3 (2,628) (2,628)
- - 156,189 595,851 752,040
- 80,075 - (80,075) -
- e - (450,000) (450,000)
6,000,000 1,327,571 280,885 3,274,742 10,883,198
Chatrman Director Director
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PAIR Investment Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

2.1

2.2

2.3

STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

PAIR Investment Company Limited (the Company) is an unlisted public limited company incorporated in Pakistan on 15
January 2007 under the Companies Act, 2017 (repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984). The Company has been notified
as a Development Financial Institution (DF1) by the Ministry of Finance, Government of Pakistan.

The Company is a Joint Venture (50:50) between Government of Pakistan and Iran Foreign Investment Company which is
owned by the Government of Iran. The Company's objectives interalia includes financing for industrial and commercial
projects, capital and money market operations and other investment banking activities. Its registered and principal office is
situated at 17th Floor Ocean Tower, Clifton, Karachi. The other regional office is situated at Mezzanine Floor, PACE
Tower T-27-H Gulberg 2, Lahore.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

These financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the format of financial statements prescribed by the
State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) vide BPRD Circular No. 02 of 2023 dated February 09, 2023 effective from the accounting
year ended December 31, 2023.

These financial statements have been presented in Pakistan Rupees, which is the Company's functional and presentation
currency.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with approved accounting and reporting standards as
applicable in Pakistan. Approved accounting standards comprise of such International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS)
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan as are notified under the provisions of and directives issued
under the Banking Companies Ordinance (BCO), 1962, the Companies Act, 2017 and directives issued by the State Bank
of Pakistan (SBP) and the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP). Whenever the requirements of the
BCO, 1962, Companies Act, 2017 or the directives issued by the SBP and the SECP differ with the requirements of IFRS
or IFAS, requirements of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the Companies Act, 2017 and the said directives shall
prevail. The accounting and reporting standards comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017; .

- Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP)
as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017; and
- Directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan and the Securities and Exchange Commission.of Pakistan (SECP).

Whenever the requirements of the Companies Act, 2017 or the directives issued by the SBP and the SECP differ with the
reqmrements of the IFRS or IFAS, requ:rements of the Companies Act, 2017 and the said directives shall prevail.

The SBP through its BSD Circular letter No. 11 dated September 11, 2002 has deferred the implementation of IAS 40
‘Investment Property’ for Non-Banking Financial Institutions (NBFIs) in Paklstan

Standards, interpretation and amendments to publish accounting and reporting standards that are effective:
The following amendments are effective for the year ended December 31, 2024, These amendments and improvements

are either not relevant to the Company's operations or are not expected to have significant impact on the Company's
financial statements other than certain additional disclosures.

- Amendments to IFRS 16 ' Leases' -Clarification on how seller-lessee subsequently measures sale and leaseback
transactions

- Amendments to IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' - Classification of liabilities as current or non-current
along with Non-current liabilities with Convenants
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Amendments to IAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows' and 'IFRS 7 'Financial instruments disclosures' - Supplier Finance
Arrangements

Standards, interpretation and amendments to publish accounting and reporting standards that are not yet
effective:

The following amendments are only effective for accounting periods, beginning on or after the date mentioned against
each of them. These amendments are either not relevant to the Company's operations or are not expected to have
significant impact on the Company's financial statements other than certain additional disclosures.

Effective from Accounting period
beginning on or after

- Amendments to IAS 21 'The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates' - January 01, 2025

Clarification on how entity accounts when there is long term lack of
Exchangeability

- IFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts (including the June 2020 and December 2021 January 01, 2026
Amendments to IFRS 17)

- Amendments to IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' and IFRS 7 'Financial January 01, 2026
instruments disclosures' - Classification and measurement of financial
instruments

- Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards (related to IFRS 1, January 01, 2026
IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7

- Amendments to IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' and IFRS 7 'Financial January 01, 2026
instruments disclosures' - Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity

Other than the aforesaid amendments, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has also issued the following
standard which has not been adopted locally by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan:

- IFRS 1 — First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
- IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements

- IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures
Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan requires
management to make judgements, estimates and associated assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The judgements, estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experiences, current trends and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future period if the revision affects both current and future periods. The estimates and judgments that have a
significant effect on the financial statements are in respect of the following:

- Classification and valuation of investments and impairment (Note 4.2 and 7.1)

- Provision against non-performing advances including net investment in finance lease (notes 4.2.7 and 8.3.2)
- Non-banking asset acquired in satisfaction of claims (notes 4.6)

- Useful life and residual value of fixed and intangible assets, depreciation and amortisation (notes 4.5, 9,10)
- Current and deferred taxation (notes 4.12, 11, 31)

- Accounting for defined benefit plan (Note 4.8, 4.9 and 35)

- Contingencies and commitments (Note 19)

The underlying estimates and judgements and methods of computation adopted in preparation of these financial

statements are the same as those applied in the preparation of the annual audited financial statements of the Company
for the year ended December 31, 2023 except as disclosed in below :
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Change In risk parameter

During the year, the company has revised its risk parameter of LGD (loss given default) for calculation of Expected credit
loss, previously, the company was using the LGD percentages prescribed under the Basel Foundation — Internal Rating-
Based (F-IRB) approach to determine ECL, as per BSD Circular No. 08 dated June 27, 2006. The change in risk
parameter is applicable frorn January 01, 2024 and is freated as change in estimate. Had there is no change in
parameter, the ECL against advances and investments, for the year would reduced by Rs. 120.328 million and Rs.
317.820 million respectively.

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT & FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for certain investments and
defined benefit plan, which are revalued as referred to in notes 8 and 36.

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Company operates. The financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees, which is the Company's functional
and presentation currency.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are consistent with those of the previous
financial year except for those mentioned in note no 4.1.

ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING POLICY
Accounting for minimum taxes and final taxes

During May 2024, The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP) issued a guide 'lAS 12 Application Guidance
on Accounting for Minimum taxes and Final taxes' (the Guide) to provide guidance on accounting of minimum tax and final
tax, as mentioned in the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, under the requirements of relevant IFRS Accounting Standards
and provide appropriate approaches to account for minimum taxes and final taxes in compliance with the requirements of
IFRS Accounting Standards.The guide was issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP) in May 2024
'|AS 12 Application Guidance on Accounting for Minimum taxes and Final taxes' (the guide).

In view of the clarifications from ICAP, it has been established that minimim tax and final taxes do not meet the criteria of
income tax expense as per IAS 12 (as these are not based on taxable profits), hence, it should be accounted for under
IFRIC 21 'Levies' and IAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets'.

The Guide issued by ICAP provides approaches to account for minimum and final regime taxes according to the facts and
circumstances as applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the Company has adopted the following approach:

The Company first designates the amount calculated on taxable income using the notified tax rate as an income tax within
the scope of IAS 12 'Income Taxes' and recognise it as current income tax expense. Any excess over the amount
designated as income tax, is then recognised as a levy falling under the scope of IFRIC 21 'Levies/IAS 37' Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. :

Therefare, the effective rate of income tax is equal to the enacted rate of income tax and and the deferred tax will be
calculated at such rate.

Similarly, any amount deducted as final taxes will be classified as a levy in the statement of profit or loss and there would
be no deferred tax liability / (asset) recognised in case of final taxes.

Super tax charged to entities as per provisions of Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, will be classified as either ‘Income Tax' or
‘levy’ in accordance with guidance provided in the guide [i.e. if super tax calculation is based on taxable profits as defined
in IAS 12, then, such super tax shall be recognised as ‘income tax’' otherwise such super tax shall qualify for recognition
as ‘levy’ as per IFRIC 21 / IAS 37].
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Advance taxes paid under any section of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, except minimum taxes paid under section 113,
which are termed as levy as per the above guide will be classified as 'prepaid assets'.

The above changes have been accounted for in these financial statements as per the requirements of IAS 8 ‘Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’. The adoption of this policy did not result in re-statement of
financial statements since deferred tax liability recognised in the year ended December 31, 2024 was already at enacted
rate and the application of this guide did not result any material differences except for reclassifications which are
presented as below:

Current Previous
Classification - Classification
------------ (Rupees in '000) ----=---==---
Effect on statement of profit and loss account:

For the year ended December 31, 2023

Taxation:

- Current year 290,808 316,799

Levies:

-Final tax 25,991 -
316,799 316,799

Levy

A levy is an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits that is imposed by governments on entities in accordance
with legislation (i.e. laws and/or regulations), other than:

(a) those outflows of resources that are within the scope of other standards.
(b) fines or other penalties that are imposed for breaches of the legislation.

In these financial statements, levy includes minimum taxes differential, if any, final taxes and super taxes which are based
on other than taxable profits. The corresponding advance tax paid, except for minimum taxes under section 113, which
are treated as levy are recognised in prepaid assets as 'prepaid assets[It can be changed depending on entity's specific
cases]. :

i Revenue taxes
Revenue taxes includes amount representing excess of :

a) minimum tax paid under section 113 over income tax determined on income streams taxable at general
rate of taxation and;

b) minimum tax withheld / collected / paid or computed over tax liability computed on (related income tax
streams taxable at general rate of tax), is not adjustable against tax liability of subsequent tax years.

Amount over income tax determined on income streams taxable at general rate of taxation shall be treated as
revenue taxes.

The company determines, based on expected future taxable profits, that excess paid under section 113 by the entity
over and above its tax liability (on income stream(s) taxable at general rate of taxation) is expected to be realized in
subsequent tax years, then, such excess shall be recorded as deferred tax asset adjustable against tax liability for
subsequent tax years. This shall be recognized as ‘deferred tax asset’ for the reason that it represents unused tax
credit as it can be adjusted only against tax liability (of subsequent tax years) arising on taxable income subject to
general rate of taxation. Such an asset shall be subject to requirements contained in IAS 12 ‘Income Tax’

ii. Final Taxes

Final taxes includes tax charged / withheld / paid on certain income streams under various provisions of Income Tax
Ordinance, 2001 (Ordinance). Final tax is charged / computed under the Ordinance, without reference to income
chargeable to tax at the general rate of tax and final tax computed / withheld or paid for a tax year is construed as
final tax liability for the related stream of Income under the Ordinance.

Final tax paid is considered to be full and final discharge of the tax liability for the Company for a tax year related to
that income stream. :
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4.2 IFRS 9 - 'Financial Instruments

4.21 Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisioris of the
instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, the date on which the
Company purchase or sell the asset. Other financial assets and liabilities like advances, lending to financial institutions,
deposits etc. are recognised when funds are transferred to the customers’ account or financial institutions. However, for
cases, where funds are transferred on deferred payment basis, recognition is limited to the purchase of underlying asset.
The Company will recognise due to customer and financial institution balances when these funds reach the Company.

Amortised cost

Financial assets and liabilities under amortised cost category are initially recognised at fair value adjusted for directly
attributable transaction cost. These are subsequently measured at amortised cost. An expected credit loss allowance

(ECL) is recognised for financial assets in the profit or loss. Interest income / expense on these assets / liabilities are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss account. On derecognition of these financial assets and liabilities, capital gain
/'loss will be recognised in the statement of profit or loss account.

Fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets under FVOCI category are initially recognised at fair value adjusted for directly attributable transaction
cost. These assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes recorded in OCIl. An expected credit loss
allowance (ECL) is recognised for these financial assets in the statement of profit or loss account. Interest / dividend

income on these assets are recognised in the statement of profit or loss account. On derecognition of these financial
assets, capital gain / loss is recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income.

Fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets under FVTPL category are initially recognised at fair value. Transaction costs are directly recorded in the
profit or loss. These assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes recorded in the profit or loss account.
Interest / dividend income on these assets are recognised in the statement of profit or loss account. On derecognition of

these financial assets, capital gain / loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss account. An expected credit loss
allowance (ECL) is not recognised for these financial assets.

Equity based financial assets

An equity instrument held by the Company for trading purposes is classified as measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition
of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

4.2.2 Derecognition
Finéncial assets
The Company derecognises a financial asset when:
= the contractual n'ghté to the cash flows frbm the financial asset expire; or
- it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either:
= substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred; or

- the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not
retain control of the financial asset.

The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial position, but
retains either all or substamlally all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred
assets are not derecognised.
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4.2.4

4.2.5

4.2.6

4.2.7
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Financial liabilities

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expired.
The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability
are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration
paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
account.

Modification

The Company sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of financing to its customers.
When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are renegofiated or otherwise modified and the renegotiation or
modification does not result in the derecognition of that financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9, the Company
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognise a madification gain or loss in the statement of
profit or loss account. The gross carrying amount of the financial asset is recalculated as the present value of the
renegotiated or modified contractual cash flows that are discounted at the financial asset’s original effective profit rate (or
credit-adjusted effective profit rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets). Any costs or fees incurred
adjust the carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified
financial asset.

Off setting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount is reported in the financial statements when
there is a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amount and the Company intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provision of the instrument. Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual right future cash flows from the asset
expires or is transferred along with the risk and reward of the asset. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when obligation
specific in the contract discharge, cancel or expire. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the financial asset and liability is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss account of the current year.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at their fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivative financial instruments are carried as asset when
fair value is positive and liabilities when fair value is negative. Any change in the value of derivative financial instruments is
taken to the statement of profit and loss account. -

Overview of the ECL principles

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (‘'ECL') associated with all advances and
other debt financial assets not held at FVTPL, together with. letter of credit, guarantees and unutilized financing
commitments hereinafter referred to as "Financial Instruments". The Company recognises a loss allowance for such
losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

- An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
- The time value of money; and

- Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit
loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance
is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL) as outlined below.
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The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated at individual
customer level.

The Company has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a -
financial instrument's credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of
default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. The Company considers an exposure to have
significantly increased in credit risk when there is considerable deterioration in the internal rating grade for subject
customer. The Company also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit risk for
an asset, such as moving a customer / facility to the watch list, or the account becoming forborne. Regardless of the
change in credit grades, generally, the Company considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due. However, for certain portfolios, the Company may rebut 30 DPD
presumption based on behavioral analysis of its borrowers. When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of
similar assets, the Company applies the similar principles for assessing whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Based on the above process, the Company groups its financial instruments into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and purchased
or originated credit impaired (POCI), as described below:

Stage 1: When financial instruments are first recognised, the Company recognises an allowance based on 12mECLs.
Stage 1 financial instruments also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and they have been
reclassified from Stage 2. The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that
result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date. The Company calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the expectation.of a default occurring in the
12 months following the reporting date. These expected 12-month default probabilities are applied to a
forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD and discounted by an approximation to the original EIR.
This calculation is made for all the scenarios.

Stage 2: When a financial instrument has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Company
records an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 also includes facilities, where the credit risk has improved
and the instrument has been reclassified from Stage 3. The mechanics are similar to those explained above,
including the use of multiple scenarios, but PDs are applied over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected
cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the original EIR.

Stage 3: For financial instruments considered credit-impaired, the Company recogniées the lifetime expected credit
losses for these instruments. The Company uses a PD of 100% and LGD as computed for each portfolio or
as prescribed by the SBP under the prudential regulations which ever is higher.

POCI: Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial
recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and profit / rental is subsequently
recognised based on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECLs are only recognised or released to the extent that there is
a subsequent change in the expected credit losses.

Undrawn  When estimating LTECLs for undrawn financings commitments, the Company estimates the expected

financing  portion of the financings commitment that will be drawn down over its expected life. The ECL is then based
on the present value of the expected shortfalls in cash flows if the financings is drawn down, based on a
probability-weighting of the three scenarios. For revolving facilities that include both a financings and an
undrawn commitment, ECLs are calculated and presented within other: liabilities.

Guarantee The Company estimates ECLs based on the BASEL driven credit conversion factor (CCF) for Guarantee
and letters and letter of credit contracts. The calculation is made using a probability-weighting of the three scenarios.
ofcredit  The ECLs related to guarantee and letter of credit contracts are recognised within other liability.

contracts

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liabilities to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a
financial liability
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The calculation of ECLs

The Company calculates ECLs based on a three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls,
discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to a
Company in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive.

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows:

PD The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default may only
happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously derecognised and is still in
the portfolio. PD is estimated based on statistical technique such as the Pluto and Tasche Model of default,
particularly for low default portfolios which are based on the Company’s internal risk ratings (i.e. from 1 to 12). PDs
for Non advances portfolio, the Company has used PDs prescribed by Standard and Poor's (S&Ps) against each
risk rating. PDs are then adjusted using Vasicek Model for IFRS 9 ECL calculations to incorporate forward looking
information.

EAD The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected
changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and profit, whether scheduled by
contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments.
The maximum period for which the credit losses are determined is the contractual life of a financial instrument
unless the Company has the legal right to call it earlier. The Company's product offering includes a varisty of
corporate facilities, in which the Company has the right to cancel and / or reduce the facilities with one day notice.
However, in case of revolving facilities, the Company does not limit its exposure to credit losses to the contractual
notice period, but, instead calculates ECL over a period that reflects the Company's expectations of the customer
behaviour, its likelihood of default and the Company's future risk mitigation procedures, which could include
reducing or cancelling the facilities.

LGD The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. It is
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive,
including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.

The discount rate used to discount the ECLs is based on the effective profit rate that is expected to be charged over the
expected period of exposure to the facilities. In the absence of computation of the effective profit rate (at reporting date),
the Company uses an approximation e.g. contractual rate (at reporting date).

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Company seeks to use collateral, where possible. The Company
considers only those collaterals as eligible collaterals in the EAD calculation which have the following characteristics:

- History of legal certainty and enforceability
z History of enforceability and recovery.

When estimating the ECLs, the Company considers three scenarios (a base case, an upside, a downside). Each of these
is associated with different PDs. When relevant, the assessment of multiple scenarios also incorporates how defaulted
loans are expected to be recovered, including the probability that the loans will cure and the value of collateral or the
amount that might be received for selling the asset.

Forward looking information

In its ECL models, the Company relies on a range of forward looking information as economic inputs, such as:
- GDP growth

z Consumer price index

s Unemployment rate

4.2.8 Definition of default

The Company defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit impaired, when
it meets one or more of the following criteria:

- The customer is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments. -
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Further the following criteria has been determined for assessment of default:

- The Company makes a charge-off or account-specific provision resulting from a perceived decline in credit quality
subsequent to the Company taking on the exposure,

- The Company sells the credit obligation at a material credit-relaied economic loss,
- The Company consents to a distressed restructuring of the credit obligation where this is likely to result in a

diminished financial obligation caused by the material forgiveness, or postponement, of principal, interest or (where
relevant) fees,

= The Company has filed for the obligor's bankruptcy or a similar order in respect of the obligor's credit obligation to
the industry group, and

- The obligor has sought or has been placed in bankruptcy or similar protection where this would avoid or delay
repayment of the credit obligation to the industry group.

4.2.9 Write-offs
The Company's accounting policy under IFRS 9 remains the same as it was under SBP regulations.
4.3 Cash and cash equivalents

For the preparation of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash and balances with treasury banks and
balances with other banks excluding any term deposit with original terms of greater than three months.

44 Repurchase / resale agreements

The Company enters into repurchase / resale agreements at contracted rates for a specified period of time. These are
recorded as under;

Sale under repurchase obligations

Securities sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repo) continue to be recognised
in the statement of financial position and are measured in accordance with accounting policies for investments. Amounts
received under these agreements are recorded as repurchase agreement borrowings. The difference between sale and
repurchase price is amortised as expense over the term of the repurchase agreement.

Purchase under resale obligation

Securities purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date (reverse repo) are not
recognised as investments in the statement of financial position. Amounts paid under these arrangements are included in
repurchase agreement lendings. The difference between purchase and resale price is accrued as income over the term of
the resale agreement. '

4.5 Fixed Assets
Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress are stated at cost less impairment, if any. These are transferred to specific assets as and when
assets become available for use.

Property and equipment - owned

Operating fixed assets except capital work in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
loss, if any. Depreciation is charged to statement of profit and loss account on straight line basis so as to write-off the
assets over their expected economic lives at the rates specified in note 10.1 to these financial statements. The
depreciation charge for the year is calculated after. taking into account residual value, if any. The residual values, useful
lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each reporting date. Full month Depreciation is
charged in the month the assets are available for use while no depreciation is charged in the month of disposal.
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4.6

4.7

4.8

Operating fixed assets transferred from non-banking assets are recognised at fair value as at the date of transfer which is
deemed to be the cost of that asset. Any surplus available on the date of transfer is reclassified to unappropriated profits
through equity on the transfer date.

Normal repaifs and maintenance are charged to statement of profit and loss account as and when incurred. Subsequent
expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in operating fixed assets.

Gains and losses on disposal of assets are included in statement of profit and loss account. The Company reviews the
rate of depreciation / useful life, residual values and value of assets for possible impairment on an annual basis. Any
change in the estimates in future years might affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of operating fixed assets
with a corresponding effect on depreciation charge and impairment.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets having a finite useful life are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, if any.
Intangible assets are amortised from the month when these are available for use, using the straight line method, whereby
the cost of an intangible asset is amortised over the period which takes into account the economic benefits that will be
available to the Company. The residual value, useful life and amortisation method is reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,
at each reporting date.

Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims are initially measured at settlement amount and upon revaluation,
are carried at revalued amounts less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. These assets are revalued as per
SBP's requirement by independent professionally qualified valuers to ensure that their net carrying value does not differ
materially from their fair value. A surplus arising on revaluation of property is credited to the 'surplus on revaluation of fixed
assets' account and any deficit arising on revaluation is taken statement to profit and loss account directly. Legal fees,
transfer costs and direct costs of acquiring title of property is charged to statement of profit and loss account and not
capitalised.

Borrowings and deposits

Borrowings and deposits are recorded at the amount of proceeds received. Mark-up on borrowings and deposits are
charged to statement of profit and loss account on a time proportion basis.

Staff retirement benefit

Defined benefit plan

The Company operates an approved- funded gratuity scheme for all its permanent employees who have 'compieted the
qualifying period under the scheme. The scheme is administered by a Board of Trustees and contributions therein are
made in accordance with the actuarial recommendations. The valuation in this regard is carried out at each reporting date,
using the Projected Unit Credit Method for the valuation of the scheme, '

Gratuity is payable to staff on completion of two years of service.

Past service cost is the change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from a plan amendment or
curtailment. The Company recognises past service cost as an expense at the earlier of the following dates:

a) when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs: or
b)  and when the Company recognises related restructuring costs or termination benefits.

The Company has adopted certain actuarial assumptions as disclosed in the note 34.3 for valuation of defined benefit
obligation and fair value of plan assets, based on actuarial advice.
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Defined contribution plan

The Company operates a recognised provident fund scheme for its employees. Equal monthly contributions are made,
both by the Company and the employees, to the fund at the rate of 10% of the basic salary.

Employees' compensated absences
Employees' entitlement to annual leave is recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for estimated

liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by the employee against un-availed leaves upto the reporting
date.

Foreign currencies
Transactions and balances in foreign currencies
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Pakistan Rupees at the exchange rates prevailing

at the reporting date. Foreign currency transactions during the year are recorded at the rates prevailing on the date of
transaction.

Translation gains and losses

Exchange gains and losses are included in statement of profit and loss account.

Revenue recognition

Mark-up / return / interest income is recognised on accrual basis taking into account effective yield on the asset, except
where recovery is considered doubtful, the income is recognised on receipt basis. Interest / return / mark-up on

rescheduled / restructured advances and investments is recognised as permitted by the Prudential Regulations issued by
the SBP. : i

A gain / loss on sale of securities is recognised in statement of profit and loss account at the time of sale of relevant
securities.

The surplus / deficit arising on revaluation of the Company's FVTPL investment portfolio is taken to the statement of profit
and loss account. ' '

Premium or discount on acquisition of investments is capitalised and amortised through the statement of profit and loss
account account over the remaining period through effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the Company's right to receive the dividend is established.

Fee, commission and brokerage income is recognised as the services are rendered.

Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit and loss account
except to the extent that it relates to the items recognised directly in equity or surplus on revaluation of assets, in which
case it is recognised in equity or surplus on revaluation of assets.

Current

Provision for current taxation is based on taxable income at the enacted / corporate tax rate after taking into account tax
credits and rebates available, if any, as per the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. '

Deferred

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method for all temporary differences at the reporting date between tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes after considering, the enacted tax rate.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax asset is recognised for all
deductible temporary differences and carried forward unused tax losses, if any, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which such temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.
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4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.17.1

4.18

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at enacted tax rate that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Cther provisions
Other provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and
it is probable that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits would be required to settle the obligation and a

reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and are adjusted to reflect
the current best estimate.

Dividend distribution

Dividend and appropriation to reserves, except appropriation which is required by the law after the reporting date, is
recognised as liability in the Company's financial statements in the period in which these are approved.

Earnings per share
The Company presents earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or

loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year.

Segment reporting
A segment is distinguishable component of the Company that is engaged in providing products or services (business
segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is

subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. The Company's primary format of reporting is
based on business segments.

Business segmenis
Following are the main segments of the Company:
Corporate finance and It includes loans, advances, leases and other transactions with corporate customers.

commercial banking Further, it undertakes advisory services including mergers and acquisitions, listed debt
syndication, trustee activities and other investment banking activities.

Trading & Sales (other than ~ Undertakes Company's fund management activities through leveraging and investing in

Capital Market) liguid assets such as short term placements, government securities and reverse repo
activities. It carries out spread based activities in the inter bank market and manages the
interest rate risk exposure of the Company.

Capital Market Includes trading in listed securities with a view to trade and earn the benefit of market
fluctuations and to hold securities for dividend income and capital gains.

Geographical segments
The Company operates only in Pakistan.
Statutory reserve

Every Bank / DF| incorporated in Pakistan is required to transfer 20% of its profit to a statutory reserve until the reserve
equals share capital, thereafter 5% of the profit of the DFl is to be transferred to this reserve.




5.1

5.2

6.1

2024 2023
Note  ===m----m- (Rupees in "000) =-=-wmnnn-
CASH AND BALANCES WITH TREASURY BANKS
In hand
Local currency 67 -
Foreign currencies 256 6,138
323 6,138
With State Bank of Pakistan in
Local currency current account 5.1 212,490 151,715
With National Bank of Pakistan in
Local currency current account 17 17
Local currency deposit account 52 912 798
929 815
213,742 158,668
Less: Credit loss allowance held against cash and balances with ) )
treasury banks
Cash and balances with treasury banks - net of credit loss 213,742 158,668

allowance

This represents current account maintained for minimum cash reserve required to be maintained with the State Bank of
Pakistan in accordance with its requirements of BSD Circular No. 04 dated May 22, 2004.

This carries mark-up at the rate 13.50% per annum (2023: 20.50%).

2024 2023
Note e (Rupees in '000) --==---- -
BALANCES WITH OTHER BANKS

In Pakistan .
. In current accounts 100,258 119,259
In deposit accounts . 6.1 188,171 176,994
' 288,429 296,253
Less: Credit loss allowance held-against balances with other banks (184) ' (134)
Balances with other banks - net of credit loss allowance 288,245 - 296,118

These deposit accounts carry annual mark-up rate of 5.02% to 13.50% (2023: 6.75% to 20.50%).
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7.2.1

7.2.2

Investments given as collateral

Market Treasury Bills

Carrying value - before revaluation
Surplus

Pakistan Investment Bonds

Carrying value - before revaluation
Surplus / (Deficit)

Shares

Carrying value - before revaluation
Impairment
Surplus

2024 2023

e (Rupees in '000) -==menn---
- 116,362

- 44

- 116,406
5,571,868 10,197,913
49,092 (15,291)
5,620,960 10,182,622
39,624 85,670
28,353 13,867
67,977 89,537

Above debt securities are pledged against the repurchase borrowings, while shares are pledged with National Clearing

Company Pakistan Limited (NCCPL) against ready market exposure.

Credit loss allowance for diminution in value of investments

Opening balance

Impact of Adoption of IFRS 9

. Charge / reversals

Charge for the year
Reversal on disposals

Closing Balance

2024 2023

---------- (Rupees in '000) ---ms=----
51,717 39,311

- 2,641

728,715 | 11,927
(4,174) (2,162)

724,541 9,765
51,717

776,258
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7.3

7.31

7.3.2

Particulars of credit loss allowance

Investments - exposure
Opening balance

New investments

Investments derecognised or repaid
Transfer to stage 1

Transfer to stage 2

Transfer to stage 3

Amounts written off / charged Off
Closing balance

Investments - Credit loss allowance

Gross carrying amount - Current year

Impact of Adoption of IFRS 9

New investments
Investments derecognised or repaid
Transfer to stage 1

. Transfer to stage 2

Transfer to stage 3

Amounts written off / charged off
Changes in risk parameters
(PDs/LGDs/EADs)

Closing balance - Current year

Particulars of credit loss allowance against debt securities

Domestic
Performing
Underperforming
Non-Performing
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

Stage 1
‘Stage 2
Stage 3

Total

Overseas
Performing
Underperforming
Non-Performing
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3

Total

2024 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
mmememaaas (Rupees in "000) -=-=m=- - ---—--— (Rupees in '000) ---——--
22,516,524 - 41,123 21,430,443 - 43,290
9,126,959 - 37,351 | 11,872,492 - -
(5,321,676) (25,000) (69,127)| (10,776,178) - (2,167)
(50,000) 50,000 - - 3 =
(899,959) - 899,959 - - =
2,855,324 25,000 868,183 1,096,314 - (2,167)
- - - (10,233) = =
25,371,848 25,000 909,306 22 516,524 = 41,123
2024 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
---------- (Rupees in '000) ==exssansn ---------- (RuUpees in '000) -
10,594 - 41,123 - - 39,311
- - - 2,641 - -
24,998 - - 47 - 3,974
(188) . (3,329) 5 = (2,162)
(59) 271 - - - -
(7,166) - 392,194 - 5 ~
17,585 271 388,865 47 - (1,812)
21,291 205 296,324 7,906 - -
49,470 476 726,312 10,594 - 41,123
2024 2023
Credit loss Credit loss
Outstanding allowance Outstanding  allowance
amount held amount held
Rupees in '000
24,960,305 49,470 21,798,888 10,594
25,000 476 - -
400,115 316,114 - -
471,397 372,404 - -
37,7%4 37,794 41,123 41,123
909,305 726,312 41,123 41,123
25,894,611 776,258 21,840,011 51,717




7.4

7.4.1

7.4.2

Quality of securities

Details regarding quality of securities held under "Held to Collect and Sell* model.

Note
Federal Government Securities - Government guaranteed
Market Treasury Bills 7.5
Pakistan Investment Bonds 7.6

Shares

Listed Companies

- Commercial Banks

- Textile Composite

- Power Generation and Distribution
- Oil and Gas Exploration Companies
- Fertilizer .

- Oil and Gas Marketing Companies
- Fixed Line Telecommunication

- Insurance

- Miscellaneous

- Refinery

- Chemicals

- Automobile Parts and Accessories
- Engineering '

- Autornobile Assembler

- Household Goods

- Pharmacuticals

- Technology Hardware and Equipment
- Cement '

- Financial Services

- Industrial Transportation
- Industrial Metals and Mining

Cost

2024

2023

-==m--m--- (Rupees in '000) ----------

918,681 1,705,579
19,051,641 14,211,722
19,970,322 15,917,301

88,889 312,981

2,387 50,447
23,094 39,269
29,159 90,786

- 7,931

61,189 28,675

8,568 36,893
13,404 25,564
- 6,932
9,600 5,700
76,233 27,609
1,054 12,105

- 19,163

- 3,150
44,311 -

- 8,257
21,375 -
32,280 34,678

- 1,892

- 3,702

- 1,902

411,543 717,636




Cost
2024 2023
Note ====mmeen (Rupees in '000) --=-=-----
743 Non Government Debt Securities
7.4.3.1 Listed Term Finance Certificates (TFC) and Sukkuk Certificates
AAA - -
AA+, AA, AA- 1,836,396 1,132,627
At A, A- 154,920 1,388,554
CCC and below 204,000 -
Unrated 11,245 11,245
2,206,561 2,532,426
7.4.3.2 Unlisted Term Finance Certificates (TFC) and Sukkuk Certificates
AAA 500,000 299,400
AA+, AA, AA- 835,301 1,273,332
A+ A, A- 1,618,368 1,297,461
BBB+, BBB, BBB- 69,997 90,000
BB+, BB, BB- - 400,214
B+, B, B- 667,513 -
Unrated 26,549 29,877
3,717,728 3,390,284
7.5 Market treasury bills carry yield of 16.99% (2023: 21.43% to 22.99%) per annum with maturities upto August 21, 2025
(2023: December 12, 2024).
7.6 The investments in Pakistan Investment Bonds are maturing upto November 04, 2031 (2023: 22 October 2030) and the

effective yield ranges from 7.33% to 22.64% (2023: 7.33% to 23.90%) per annum.
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9.3

10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

The gross cost and sale proceeds of disposals / write-offs:

Asset

Equipment

Mercedez C-180 Sedan RHD
Toyota Corolla ALTIS 1.6 (BTR - 250)
Laptop (Dell Latitude 5510)

Laptop (Dell Latitude 5500)

Laptop (Dell Latitude 5500)

Laptop (Deill Latitude 5500)

Laptop (Dell Latitude 5500)

Laptop (Dell Latitude 5500)

Laptop (Dell Latitude 5590)

Laptop (Dell Latitude 5590)

Laptop (Dell Latitude 5590)

Mobile Phone (IPHONE 11 PRO)
Mobile Phone (Samsung A32)
Mobile Phone (Samsung A32)
Mobile Phone (Iphone 13)

Mobile Phone (Xiaomi 11T)

Mobile Phone (Xiaomi Poco X3)
Mobile Phone (OPPO F18PRO)
Mobile Phone (Galaxy A-52s)
Mobile Phone (Galaxy A-30)
Mobile Phone (Iphone 11 Pro Max)
Mobile Phone (Iphone 11 Pro Max)
Mobile Phone (Galaxy Tab A7)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer softwares and licenses
Capital work in progress

Purchaser

Cost Book Sale price
value
B GnrEEEEREEa --- {Rupees) --------mmnsmmmmmmeee -
7,500,000 - a
3,470,445 859,278 4,500,000
343,200 50,050 50,050
180,081 - 8,004
180,081 - 8,004
156,418 - 6,821
156,418 - 6,821
156,418 - 8,004
159,041 - 7,314
166,278 - 6,952
166,278 - 6,981
256,025 " s
35,000 - -
35,000 - -
55,000 - -
55,000 = i
35,000 - .
35,000 1,458 -
45,000 1,875 -
50,000 - -
50,000 ” 4
55,000 F &
50,000 41,667 41,667
13,390,683 954,328 4,650,618
Note
10.2
10.1

Mr. Abbas Danesvar - MD/CEQ
IGl Insurance

Mr. Abbas Danesvar - MD/CEO
Mr. Umair Javed Khalid - Employee
Mr. 8ilal Darr - Employee

Mr. Sohail Irfan - Employee

Mr. Tarig Memon - Employee

Mr. Adil Khan - Employee

Mr. Khurram Faiziab - Employee
Mr. Muhammad Umair - Employee
Mr. Haris Khatri - Employee

Mr. Abbas Danesvar - MD/CEO
Mr. Adil Khan - Employee

Mr. Muhammad Umair - Employes
Mr. Jahangeer Jamil - Employee
Mr. Sohail Irfan - Employee

Mr. Umair Javed Khalid - Employee
Mr. Sikandar Younus - Employee
Mr. Haris Khatri - Employee

Mr. Shakeel - Employee

Mr. Faraz Ahmed - Employee

Ms. Kauser Safdar - Employee
Mr. Zeeshan Rauf - Employee

Computer software

2024 2023
--------- (Rupees in '000) -====-----

226 465
12,008 8,758
12,234 9223

The amount represents payments being made to a company for the software being implemented by the Company.

Computer Softwares and Licenses

At 01 January
Cost .
Less: Accumulated amortisation
Net book value

Year ended 31 December
Opening net book value
Additions - Directly purchased
Disposals
Less: Amortisation charge
Closing net book value

At 31 December
Cost

Less: Accumulated amortisation
Net book value

Rate of amortisation (percentage)

The gross cost of fully amortised assets still in use is as follows:;

Software Licenses

20,257 19,860
(19,792) (19,630)
465 230
465 230
. 397
(239) (162)
228 465
20,257 20,257
(20,031) (19,792)
226 465
33% 33%
2024 2023

--------- (Rupees in '000) ------r---

19,588

19,588

The amount represents fully depreciated sofwares being used by the Company i.e. IPAMS, HCM, GL-SHMA, FA-SHMA.
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11.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deferred tax asset - net

Deferred tax asset

Deductible Temporary Differences on

- Credit loss allowance against advances, off balance sheet, etc.

- Lease assets
- Others

Taxable Temporary Differences on

- Surplus on revaluation of investments - net
- Post retirement employee benefits

- Accelerated tax depreciation

2024
----- --- (Rupees in '000) ==-=e==--

576,030

2023

441,163

2024
At January 01, Recognised in Recognised in At December
2024 profit and loss other 31, 2024
account comprehensive
income
(Rupees in 000)

407,482 210,433 - 617,915

51,301 29,645 - 80,946

2,815 (347) - 2,468

461,598 239,731 - 701,329
(16,279) (553) (79,677) (96,509)
(2,644) (282) v (2,926)
(1,512) (24,352) - (25,864)
(20,435) (25,187) (79,677) (125,299)

441,163 214,544 (79,677) 576,030

Deferred tax asset of Rs. 85.9 million has not been recorded, which pertains to provision for non-performing loans &
impariment provision, due to uncertainty of reversal of provision to recover the benefit. Further, the Company has charged
deferred tax at the rate of 29% instead of 39% due to management's expectation of the rate that deferred tax would be

recovered in future.

Deductible Temporary Differences on

- Provision against advances, off balance sheet, etc.
- Lease liability against right-of-use assets
- Lease assets

- Deficit on revaluation of investments - net

- Others

Taxable Temporary Differences on

- Surplus on revaluation of investments - net

- Post retirement employee benefits

- Surplus on revaluation of non-banking asset

- Right-of-use assets - net

- Transfer of surplus on Non-Banking Assets to Fixed Assets
- Accelerated tax depreciation

2023

At January 01, 2023

Recognised in

Recognised in

At December

profit and loss other 31,2023
account comprehensive
income
(Rupees in 000)
513,833 (106,351) - 407,482
(9,906) 61,207 - 51,301
2,710 - (2,710) -
. 81 2,734 - 2,815
506,718 (42,410) (2,710) 461,598
- - (16,279) (16,279)
1,142 - (3,786) (2,644)
(49,367) 47,855 - (1,512)
(48,225) 47,855 (20,065) (20,435)
5,445 (22,775)

458,493

441,163
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12.

121

13.

13.1

13.2

13.3

OTHER ASSETS

Income / mark-up accrued in local currency - net of provision
Advances, advance rent and other prepayments

Advance taxation (payments less provisions)

Receivable from defined benefits plan

Dividend receivable

Security deposits

Less: Provision held against other assets
Other assets (net of provision)
Surplus on revaluation of non-banking asset acquired in satisfaction of claims

Other Assets - total

Provision held against other assets

Note

121

354

2024

2023

------ -- (Rupees in *000) ==-====--

842,745 1,063,613
93,456 30,752
1,217,656 639,234
10,091 12,629
150 150
1,583 1,583
2,165,681 1,747,961
2,165,681 1,747,961
2,165,681 1,747,961

Mark-up suspended amounting to Rs. 2,300.5 million (2022: Rs. 2,191.9 million) included in provision against other asset,

has been netted off against the markup receivable amount.

BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings secured / unsecured

Secured
Borrowings from State Bank of Pakistan- Under financing facility
-Imported & Locally Manufactured Plant & Machinery (LTFF)

-Renewable Energy Facility (REF)
-Temporary Economic Refinance Facility (TERF)
-Financing Facility for Storage of Agriculture Produce (FFSAP)

Borrowings from State Bank of Pakistan - open market operation
Total Borrowings from State Bank of Pakistan

Repurchase agreement borrowings
Term borrowings

Total Secured

Unsecured
Call borrowings
Total Unsecured

Note

13.1
13.2
13.3
13.4

135

13.5

136

13.7

2024

2023

-------- (Rupees in '000) ---------

1,184,385 || 1,527,954
581,788 581,999
1,072,080 || 1,201,748
368,892 427,302
3,207,145 3,739,003
4,888,200 8,900,000
8,095,345 12,639,003
720,000 1,572,437
5,383,333 3,577,778
14,198,678 17,789,218
9,600,000 4,000,000
9,600,000 4,000,000

- 23,798,678 21,789,218

The Company has obtained funds from the SBP for extending Long Term Financing Facility (LTFF) for Imported & Locally
Manufactured Plant & Machinery. These borrowings carry mark-up rate of 2.0% to 15% per annum (2023: 2.0% to 15%).

These borrowings will mature by 2033 (2023: 2033).

The Company has obtained funds from the SBP for extending financing facility for renewable energy facility (REF). These
borrowings carry mark-up rate of 2.0% to 3.0% per annum (2023: 2.0% to 3.0%). These borrowings will mature by 2034

(2023: 2034). -

The Company has obtained funds from the SBP for extending Temporary Economic Reﬁhance Facility (TERF) for economic
relief. These borrowings carry mark-up rate of 1.0% per annum (2023: 1.0%). These borrowings will mature by 2032 (2023:

2032).
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13.4

13.5

13.6

13.7

13.8

14.

14.1

14.2

14.3

14.4

X

The Company has obtained funds from the SBP for extending Financing Facility for Storage of Agricultural Produce (FFSAF")
for economic relief. These borrowings carry mark-up rate of 2.50% per annum (2023: 2.0% to 2.50%). These borrowings will
mature by 2030 (2023: 2030).

These carry mark-up at the rates ranging from 13.11% to 13.256% per annum (2023: 22.10% to 22.30% per annum) and are
secured against government securities having carrying amount of Rs. 5.572 billion & market value of Rs. 5.621 billion (2023:
carrying value of Rs. 10.314 billion & market value of Rs. 10.299 billion). These borrowings will mature up to January 2025
(2023: January 2024).

These represent finances obtained from Allied Bank Limited to finance regular business operations of the Company. These
finances are secured against pledge of all present and future movable assets (excluding investments). It carries mark up at
the rate of 6 months KIBOR +0.10 to 0.13% per annum. These are repayable in semi annual installments and shall be repaid
by 2029. Total available facility is Rs. 6 billion.

These represent clean finances obtained by the Company, These carry mark up at the rates ranging from 13.10% to 13.25%
(2023: 22.10% per annum). These borrowings will mature up to January 2025 (2023: January 2024).

2024 2023
--------- (Rupees in '000) -=ws==-=-

Particulars of borrowings with respect to Currencies

In local - 23,798,678 21,789,218
In foreign currencies 5 S
23,798,678 21,789,218

DEPOSITS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

2024 2023
Note In local In foreign Total In local In foreign Total
currency currencies currency currencies
(Rupees in '000)
Customers ;
Term deposits 14.2 2,608,141 - 2,608,141 1,383,726 - 1,383,726
Financial Institutions :
Term deposits 14.3 1,893,096 - 1,893,096 1,340,746 - 1,340,746
4,501,237 - 4,501,237 2,724 472 - 2,724,472
2024 2023
Note - -- (Rupees in '000) -===-=----
Composition of deposits
- Individuals 14.4 642,674 535,704
- Public Sector Entities _ 750,000 -
- Non-Banking Financial Institution (related party) : 1,893,096 1,340,746
- Private Sector i 1,215,467 848,022

4,501,237 2,724,472

The mark-l.ip rates on these certificate of investments (COI) range between 11.50% to 21.30% per annum (2023: 20.00% to
22.50% per annum). These COls will mature up to December 2025 (2023: December 2024).

The mark-up rates on these certificate of investments (COIl) is 12.25% to 16.50% per annum (2023:21.30% to 22.35% per
annum). These COls will mature up to March 2025 (2023: March 2024).

These includes both interest bearing and non-interest bearing certificate of investments (COl) issued to the employees of the
Company maturing up to November 2027 (2023: November 2026). The interest bearing deposits carry interest rates ranging
between 11.50% to 21.30% per annum (2023: 20.0% to 22.50% per annum).




15.

16.

16.1

16.2

16.3

17.

e
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2024 2023

Note —  =e=-=-=m- (Rupees in '000) --=-====-
OTHER LIABILITIES
Mark-up / return / interest payable in local currency 380,228 442,759
Accrued expenses 19,962 63,971
Provision for compensated absences - 4,804
Payable to an associated undertaking 11,855 12,713
Government levies payable 67,666 53,074
Provision for audit fee 1,998 2,019
Advance insurance premium on lease 751 758
Security deposits against finance lease 770,875 642,615
Payable Brokerage / NCCPL - 3,873
Provision for staff rewards - 120,456

1,253,335 1,347,042

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised capital

2024 2023 2024 2023
---- (Number of shares} ~---- e (Rupees in '000) ~~==-----
-1.000,000,000 1,000,000,000 Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each 10,000,000 10,000,000

Issued, subscribed and paid-up share capital

600,000,000 600,000,000 Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each and fully paid in cash 6,000,000 6,000,000

Major shareholders (holding more than 5% of total paid-up capital)

2024 2023
Number of Percentage Number of Percentage |
shares held of shares held of |
Name of shareholder : : ' |
Government of Pakistan * 300,000,000 50% 300,000,000 50%
Iran Foreign Investment Company * 300,000,000 50% 300,000,000 50%
600,000,000  100% 600,000,000 100%

This includes nominal shares allotted to the nominee Directors of the Company nominated by Government of Pakistan and
Iran Foreign Investment Company.

2024 2023
P (Rupees in '000) ---------
RESERVES
Statutory reserve
Opening balance : 1,247,496 1,093,746
Transfer during the year 80,075 153,750
Closing balance 1,327,571 1,247,496
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18.

19.

191

19.2

19.3

19.4

19.5

19.5.1

19.5.2

o
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According to BPD Circular No. 15 dated 31 May 2004 issued by SBP, an amount not less than 20% of the after tax
profits shall be transferred to create a reserve fund till such time the reserve fund equals the amount of the paid-up
capital and after that a sum not less than 5% of profit after tax shall be credited to the statutory reserve.

2024 2023
Note  -==-—---- (Rupees in '000) ------=-==
SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF ASSETS
Surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of
- Securities measured at FVOCI - Debt 741 299,096 25,828
- Securities measured at FVOCI - Equity 78,298 114,626
377,394 140,454
Deferred tax on surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of:
- Securities measured at FVOCI - Debt (86,722) 6,474
- Securities measured at FVOCI - Equity (9,787) (22,232)
(96,509) (15,758)
Incremental depreciation charged during the year - 2
280,885 124,696
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
-Commitments 19.1-194 5,651,200 10,772,437
-Other contingent liabilities 19.5 245,280 245,280
5,896,480 11,017,717
Commitments in respect of repo transactions
Repurchase agreement borrowings 5,608,200 10,472,437
Direct credit substitutes . 43,000 300,000

The amount represents Standby Letter of Credit and Letter of Comfort facilities issued to the Company's clients in its
normal course of business.

Commitments to extend credit

The Company makes commitments to extend credit in the normal course of its business but these being revocable
commitments do not attract any significant penalty or expense if the facility is unilaterally withdrawn.

Capital commitments
At the year end capital commitments amounted to Nil (2023: Nil).
Other contingent liabilities

With respect to tax year 2009, 2011, 2012 & 2013 ADCIR amended assessment under Section 122(5A) of the
Ordinance. The ACIR passed order under Section 122(5A) raising demand amounting to Rs. 23.3 million, Rs. 57.6
million,Rs. 32.152 million & Rs. 45.219 million respectively. The Company filed appeals against the order before the
CIR(A). The CIR(A) upheld the order of ACIR. The Company, then filed appeals before the Appellate Tribunal Inland
Revenue (ATIR) in respect of the orders passed by the CIR(A). The appeal is pending before ATIR. The Company, in
consultation with its tax advisor, is confident of a favourable outcome.

The Additional Commissioner Inland Revenue (ADCIR) amended the assessments for tax year 2015 and raised
demand of Rs. 80.433 million which was later revised to Rs. 87.014 million. The demand was challenged by the
Company by filing an appeal with the CIR(A). However, on confirmation of the demand order by CIR(A) the Company
filed an appeal before the ATIR and made payment of Rs. 17.5 million under protest. The ATIR through its order dated
24 November 2016 deleted the demand and directed the department to work out the liability of WWF in the light of
Supreme Court's order. Consequently, the tax department filed a reference in High Court, dated 16 February 2017,
which is yet to be admitted for hearing. Moreover, certain issues were remanded back by the ATIR under the
aforementioned order against which relief has been allowed by the CIR(A) however, appeal effect order is pending. The
Company in consultation with its tax advisor, is confident of a favorable outcome.
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With respect to tax year 2016, ADCIR amended the assessment and demand amounting to Rs. 52.049 million was
created. The Company admitted tax imposed on commission income amounting to Rs. 1.031 million, which was paid
and on other issues filed appeal to CIR(A) against ADCIR order. The CIR(A) passed order and decided the appeal and
allowed partial relief. Order to the extent of apportionment of Finance Cost was confirmed by CIR(A). An appeal effect
order under section 124 of the Ordinance is required to be passed for the relief allowed by CIR(A). The company and
the departemnt has filed appeals before the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) on the issue decided against it.
The demand of Rs. 52.049 million was created which was paid by the company under protest. The Company in
consultation with its tax advisor, is confident of a favorable outcome.

With respect to tax year 2017, ADCIR amended the assessment and demand amounting to Rs. 46.351 million was
created. The Company paid the demand / adjusted the refund under protest and filed appeal against order before
CIR(A). The CIR(A) passed order and has decided the appeal and allowed partial relief and accepted contention except
on apportionment of markup expenses. An appeal effect order under Section 124 of the Ordinance is required to be
passed for the relief allowed by CIR(A). Moreover, both the Company and the department have filed appeals before the
ATIR on the issues decided against them. The appeal is awaited to be heard. The issue is pending before ATIR.The
company in consultation with its tax advisor, is confident of a favorable outcome.

With respect to tax year 2018, ADCIR amended the assessment under Section 122(5A) of the Ordinance. The ACIR
has passed order under Section 122(5A) reducing the refund amounting to Rs. 17.962 million. The Company filed an
appeal against the order before the CIR(A). The CIR(A) passed order and has decided the appeal and allowed partial
relief and accepted our contention except on apportionment of markup expenses. An appeal effect order under Section
124 of the Ordinance is required to be passed for the relief allowed by CIR(A). The company has filed an appeal before
ATIR. The apeal is pending for hearing. The Company in consultation with its tax advisor, is confident of a favorable
outcome. '

With respect to super tax in tax year 2023 & 2024 the company has discharged tax liability at the rate of 4% and 8%
respectively instead of rate of 10% on the basis of judgment of the Islamabad High Court(IHC).The judgment of
Islamabad High Court is pending before Supreme Court of Pakistan. The Company in consultation with its tax advisor,
is confident of a favorable outcome.

OFF BALANCE SHEET FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

- Off balance sheet financial instruments includes derivatives, contracts the characteristics of which are derived from

those of underlying assets. These include forwards and swaps in money and foreign exchange markets. The
Company's exposure in these instruments represents equity futures. The Company also enters into repo transactions
against government securities carrying fixed interest rates and having fixed contractual maturities. The credit risk
associated with repo transactions is secured through underlying government securities.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company at present does not offer structured derivative products such as interest rate swaps, forward rate swaps,
forward rate agreements or forward exchange options. However, the Company buys and sells derivative instruments
such as equity futures,

Equity futures

An equity futures contract is a standardized contract, traded on a futures counter of the stock exchange, to buy or sell a
certain underlying scrip at a certain date in the future, at a specified price.

The Company uses equity futures as a hedging instrument to hedge its equity portfolio against equity price risk. Only
selected shares are allowed to be traded on futures exchange. Equity futures give flexibility to the Company either to
take delivery on the future settlement date or to settle it by adjusting the notional value of the contract based on the
current market rates.

Maximum exposure limit to the equity futures is 10% of Tier 1 capital of the Company, based on prevailing SBP
regulations. There is no outstanding future contract as at December 31, 2023
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23.
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24,

25.

Note
MARK-UP / RETURN / INTEREST EARNED
Loans and advances
Investments
Lendings to financial instruments
Balances with banks
Interest income (calculated using effective interest rate method)
recognised on:
Financial assets measured at amortised cost;
Financial assets measured at fair value through OCI.
MARK-UP / RETURN / INTEREST EXPENSED
Deposits
Securities sold under repurchase agreements ;
On borrowing from State Bank of Pakistan- Under financing facility
- Imported & Locally Manufactured Plant & Machinery (LTFF)
- Temporary Economic Refinance Facility (TERF)
- Renewable Energy (REF)
- Financing Facility for Storage of Agriculture Produce (FFSAP)
Borrowings from State Bank of Pakistan - open market operation
Term borrowing
Clean borrowing
Staff Loans
Interest expense calculated using effective interest rate method
FEE & COMMISSION INCOME
Credit related fees
Commission on guarantees
GAIN / (LOSS) ON SECURITIES - NET
Realised 25.1
Unrealised - Measured at FVPL 7:1

2024

2023

-------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

1,414,793 1,427,362
4,739,461 4,436,887
54 538
14,371 3,602
6,168,679 5,868,479
1,414,793 1,427,362
4,753,886 4,441,117
6,168,679 5,868,479
737,421 498,081
197,680 227,068
36,136 41,626
11,298 12,025
16,645 17,727
10,124 4,354
1,226,934 1,899,618
862,701 898,171
1,642,580 569,100
20,502 .
4,762,021 4,167,770
4,762,021 4,167,770
19,245 16,140
1,736 1,347
20,981 17,487
14,841 38,544
15,991 4,125
30,832 42,669




25.1

26.

27.

Realised

Shares

OTHER INCOME

Gain on sale of fixed assets
Misc. Income / Reversal of excess provisions

OPERATING EXPENSES
Total compensation expense

Property expense

Rent & taxes
Insurance

Utilities cost

Security

Repair & maintenance

Depreciation on owned operating fixed assets

Information technology expenses

Software maintenance
Depreciation
Amortisation

Network charges
Others

Other operating expenses

Directors' fees and allowances
Legal & professional charges
Travelling & conveyance

Training & development

Postage & courier charges
Communication

Stationary & printing

Marketing, advertisement & publicity
Charity & Donations

Auditors' Remuneration
Commission and brokerage

Bank charges and miscellaneous expenses

Note

271

37.2

27.3
27.2

2024

2023

--------- (Rupees in '000) ========--

14,841 38,544
3,696 14
) 2
3,696 16
293,157 474,406
665 973
7,336 6,387
16,247 12,996
1,848 1,583
11,671 8,862
45,894 21,004
83,661 51,895
5,280 5,709
8,591 7,587
239 162
4,964 6,765
1,347 563
20,421 20,786
15,875 13,750
12,123 8,991
36,682 30,403
743 961
263 238
1,668 1,683
1,891 1,957
892 1,370
8,952 5,000
2,769 2,303
4,871 2,623
8,897 9,431
95,626 78,710
492,865 625,797
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271

27.2

27.3

28.

29,

Total compensation expense

Fees and Allowances, elc
Employees' Remuneration

i) Fixed
ii) Variable
of which;

a) Cash Bonus / Awards etc.

b) Bonus & Awards in Shares efc.
Charge for defined benefit plan
Contribution to defined contribution plan
Rent & house maintenance
Utilities
Medical
Conveyance

Auditors' remuneration

Audit fee

Half yearly review

Special certifications and sundry advisory services
Out of pocket expenses

Donations and charity

2024 2023

Note ==--mno-- (Rupees in '000) -==een===
135,947 182,531

- 147,488
14,584 16,329
16,508 14,013
48,746 43,833
12,375 10,794
17,019 12,216
47,978 47,202
293,157 474 406
960 835
380 330
1,068 929
361 209
2,769 2,303

None of the directors, executives or their spouses had any interest in the donee. Detail of donations made during the

year is as follows: :

Consulate General of Iran (School being run by'the Consulate Office)

The Kidney Centre

Sindh Institute of Urology and Transplantation
Patient Aid Foundation

Layton Rahmatullah Benevolent Trust

The Citizen Foundation
OTHER CHARGES

Penalties imposed by State Bank of Pakistan
CREDIT LOSS ALLOWANCE & WRITE OFFS - NET

Credit loss allowance held against balances with other banks
Provisions against lending to financial institutions

Credit loss allowance for diminution in value of investments
Reversal of credit loss allowance against loans & advances

: 2024 2023
- Note e (Rupees in '000) =====---=-
2,384 1,028
= 600
3,000 1,372
1,025 600
1,463 600
1,080 800
8,952 5,000
50 134
722 724,541 12,406
8.5 (150,871) 158,342
573,720 170,882
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30.

301

31.

31.1

32.

33.

LEVIES

Final tax

2024

110,726

2023

(Rupees in '000) ----------

25,991

This represents final tax on dividend income, income on sukuk and capital gains under section 5, 5AA and 37A
respectively of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. These has been recognised as levies in these financial statements as

per the requirements of IFRIC 21 / IAS 37 and guide on IAS 12 issued by ICAP.

TAXATION

Current
Prior year
Deferred

Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

Profit before levies and taxation

Tax on income @ 29% (2023: 29%)

Net tax effect on income taxed at reduced rates

Net tax effect on income subject to FTR

Super tax liability

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit
Prior Year

Levies

Others

Tax charge

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Profit for the year

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Basic and diluted earnings per share

There are no instruments that may have a dilutive effect on earnings per share.

Note
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and balances with treasury banks - ; i
Balances with other banks 6

2024

2023

(Rupees in "000) =====-=-=-

162,857 316,799
(22,103) "
(214,544) (5,445)
(73,790) 311,354
437,313 1,106,096
126,821 320,768
21,559 (42,763)
(20,380) (26,449)
85,436 103,138
(149,404) (16,012)
(22,103) 5
(110,726) (25,991)
(4,993) (1,337)
(73,790) 311,354
2024 2023
400,377 768,751

600,000

{(Number of shares in "000)

600,000

(Rupees per share)

0.67 1.28

2024 2023
-------- -~ (Rupees in '000) ----------
213,742 158,668
288,429 296,119
502,171 454,787
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35.

35.1

35.2

35.3

354

35.5

35.6

DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN
General description

As mentioned in note 4.8, the Company operates an approved funded gratuity scheme for all its permanent employees.
The benefits under the gratuity scheme are payable on retirement at the age of 60 or earlier cessation of service, in
lump sum. The benefit is equal to one month's last drawn salary for each year of eligible service or part thereof, subject
to a minimum of two years of service.

Number of employees under the scheme

The number of employees covered under the defined benefit schemes are 50 (2023: 44)

Principal actuarial assumptions

The actuarial valuation was carried out as at December 31, 2024 using the "Projected Unit Credit Actuarial Cost
Method", The information provided in notes 35.3 to 35.14 has been obtained from the actuarial valuation carried out as
at December 31, 2024,

2024 2023
—mmmene (Per annum) --=-----
Discount rate 12.25% 15.50%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 15.00% 13.50%
Expected rate of salary increase 12.25% 15.50%
Mortality rates (for death in service) . SLIC(2001-05)-1 SLIC(2001-05)-1
Rates of employee turnover Moderate Moderate
Reconciliation of (receivable from) / payable to defined benefit plans
2024 2023

Note = ==mm-enee- (Rupees in '000) ---==-=---
Present value of obligations 35.5 172,874 127,667
Fair value of plan assets 36.6 & 36.9 (182,965) (140,296)
(Receivable) / payable . ' (10,091) (12,629)
Movement in defined benefit obligations
Obligations at the beginning of the year : 127,667 - 115,683
Current service cost - 15,578 15,188
Interest cost 3 20,570 17,492
Benefits paid during the year (3,041) (14,131) .
Re-measurement loss / (gain) . 12,100 (6,565)
Obligations at the end of the year 172,874 127,667
Movement in fair value of plan assets
Fair value at the beginning of the year 140,296 107,809
Interest income on plan assets 22,426 16,351
Contribution by the Company - net 14,885 21,979
Actual benefits paid from the fund during the year (3,041) (14,131)
Re-measurements gain / (loss) on plan assets 8,399 8,288
Fair value at the end of the year 35.9 182,965 140,296




35.7

35.8

35.8.1

35.8.2

35.9

35.10 -

35.11

Movement in payable under defined benefit schemes

Opening balance

Charge for the year

Contribution by the Company - net

Re-measurement loss / (gain) recognised in
other comprehensive income during the year

Closing balance

Charge for defined benefit plans
Cost recognised in profit and loss

Current service cost
Net interest on defined benefit liability / (asset)

Re-measurements recognised in OCI during the year

Loss / (gain) on obligation

- Demographic assumptions
- Financial assumptions

- Experience adjustment
Actuarial gain on plan assetis

Total re-measurements recognised in OCI

Components of plan assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Government Securities (Defence Saving Certificates)
Non-Government Debt Securities (Certificate of Investments)

Sensitivity analysis

Note

35.8.1

35.8.2

2024 2023
-------- (Rupees in '000) =====--=--
(12,629) 7,874
13,722 16,329
(14,885) (21,979)
3,701 (14,853)
(10,091) (12,629)
15,578 15,188
(1,856) 1,141
13,722 16,329
4,120 (1,403)
7,980 (5,162)
(8,399) (8,288)
3,701 (14,853)
3,111 2,676
179,855 137,620
182,966 140,296

The increase / (decrease) in the present value of defined benefit obligations as a result of change in each assumption is

summarised below:

0.5% increase in discount rate

0.5% decrease in discount rate

0.5% increase in expected rate of salary increase
0.5% decrease in expected rate of salary increase

Expected charge / (reversal) for the next financial year

2024

2023

--------- (Rupees in '000) ----=-----

166,729
179,384
178,957
167,075

122,897
132,725
132,417
123,144

2025
(Rupees in '000)

14,597




CEE =8

35.12

3513

35.14

36.

Maturity profile

The weighted average duration of the obligation is 7.31 years.
2025
(Rupees in '000)
Distribution of timing of benefit payments (time in years) -
1 5,806
' 15,070
7,158
8,267
59,714
-10 217,856

Lo > TS I S % B S

Funding Policy

An implicit, though not formally expressed, objective is that the liabilities under the scheme in respect of members in
service on the valuation date on a going concern basis and having regard to projected future salary increases, should
be covered by the Fund on the valuation date, the total book reserve as of the valuation date, future contributions to the
Fund, future additions to the book reserve and future projected investment income of the Fund.

As far as possible, there is an implicit objective that the contribution to the Fund should remain reasonably stable as a
percentage of salaries, under the Actuarial Cost Method employed.

The significant risk associated with the staff retirement benefit plan may include:
Mortality Risk

The risk that-the actual mortality experience is different. The effect depends on the beneficiaries’ service/age
distribution and the benefit.

Investment Risk
The risk of the investment underperforming and not being sufficient to meet the liabilities.
Final salary risks

The risk that the final salary at the time of cessation of service is higher than what we assumed. Since the benefit is
calculated on the final salary, the benefit amount increases similarly. '

Withdrawal risk

The risk of higher or lower withdrawal experience than assumed. The final effect could go either way depending on the
beneficiaries’ service/age distribution and the benefit.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The general description of the note is included in note 4.8.

Contributions made during the year: 2024 2023
---------- (Rupees in "000) ~===nemun

Employer's contribution 16,508 14,013

Employees' contribution ; 16,508 14,013

The number of employees covered under the defined contribution plan are 53 (2023: 48).
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38. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

38.1 Fair value of financial assets

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value are not significantly different from their carrying
values since assets and liabilities are either short term in nature or in case of ioan are frequently repriced.

Fair value is an amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing
parties in an arm's length transaction. Consequently, differences may arise between the carrying value and the fair
values' estimates.

The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs
used in making the measurements:

Level 1: Fair value measurements using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable
for the assets or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: Fair value measurements using input for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(i.e. unobservable inputs).

38.2  The table below analyses the investments measured at the end of the reporting period by the level in the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measured is categorised: :

2024
Fair value
On balance sheet financial instruments Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(Rupees in '000)

Financial assets measured

Investments - other than commercial papers

N Federal Government securities 16,941,150 3,322,046 = 20,263,196
- Shares in listed companies 505,832 - - 505,832 .
Non Government Debt Securities 2,006,801 3,147,452 = 5,154,253
ﬁ 19,453;78_3 6,469,498 - 25,923,281
L% 2023
S Fair value
On balance sheet financial instruments Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(Rupees in '000)

Financial assets measured at

Investments - other than commercial papers

ﬁ Federal Government securities : 12,956,862 2,974,935 - 15,931,797
= Shares in listed companies 762,927 - - 762,927

Non Government Debt Securities 2,613,753 3,368,572 - 5,882,325
ﬁ 19,602,114 2,974,935 - 22,577,049

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing
parties in an arm's length transaction. Fair value of financial instruments is based on:

Government securities ' PKRV / PKFRYV rates (MUFAP rates)
ﬁ Term finance certificates and sukuk bonds (other than government) MUFAP rates

Listed securities PSX rates

-.ﬁ:' 38.3  Fair value of other financial assets and liabilities are for short term or repriced frequently. Therefore, their carrying
values are reasonable approximations of their fair values.

s
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39.1

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment Details with respect to Business Activities

Profit & Loss

Net mark-up / return / profit

Inter segment revenue - net

Non mark-up / return / interest income
Total Income

Segment direct expenses
Inter segment expense allocation
Total expenses

Provisions / (reversals)
Profit before levies & Tax

Balance Sheet

Cash & Bank balances
Investments

Net inter segment lending
Lendings to financial institutions
Advances - performing
Advances - non-performing
Others

Total Assets

Borrowings

Subordinated debt

Deposits & other accounts
Net inter segment borrowing
Others

Total liabilities

Equity
Total Equity & liabilities

Contingencies & Commitments

Profit & Loss

Net mark-up / return / profit

Inter segment revenue - net

Non mark-up / return / interest income
Total Income )

Segment direct expenses
Inter segment expense allocation
Total expenses

Provisions
Profit before levies & Tax

Balance Sheet
Cash & Bank balances
Investments
Net inter segment lending
Lendings to financial institutions
Advances - performing

- non-perfarming
Others
Total Assets

Borrowings

Subordinated debt

Deposits & other accounts
Net inter segment borrowing
Others

Total liabilities

Equity
Total Equity & liabilities

Contingencies & Commitments

2024
Corporate Finance  Trading & Sales
& Commercial (other than Capital Capital Markets Others Total
Banking Market)
(Rupees in '000)
931,608 494,110 - (19,060) 1,406,658
20,981 - 89,135 4,248 114,364
852,589 494,110 89,135 (14,812) 1,521,022
67,744 28,263 24,025 389,957 509,989
67,744 28,263 24,025 389,957 509,989
362,406 211,264 - 50 573,720
522,439 254,583 65,110 (404,819) 437,313
- - - 501,987 501,987
3,580,921 21,864,137 478,223 - 25,923,281
10,448,962 - - 66,097 10,515,059
185,121 - - - 185,121
159,169 683,577 150 2,468,104 3,311,000
14,374,173 22,547,714 478,373 3,036,188 40,436,448
6,447,969 17,264,236 86,473 - 23,798,678
2,709,793 1,719,140 72,304 - 4,501,237
167,369 212,856 - 873,110 1,253,335
9,325,131 19,196,232 158,777 873,110 29,553,250
5,049,042 3,351,482 319,596 2,163,078 10,883,198
14,374,173 22,547,714 478,373 3,036,188 40,436,448
43,000 5,608,200 - 245,280 5,896,480
2023
. Trading & Sales
Corporate Finance & 2
Commercial Banking (other than Capital Capital Markets Others Total
Market)
- (Rupees in '000)
1,440,605 378,016 £ (117,912) 1,700,708
24,671 - 196,661 2,189 223,521
1,465,276 378,016 196,661 (115,723) 1,924,230
62,991 26,502 22,090 535,669 647,252
62,991 26,502 22,090 535,669 647,252
167,875 2872 - 135 170,882
1,234,410 348,642 174,571 (651,527) © 1,106,086
" = - 454 787 454 787
4,428,346 17,418,753 803,410 - 22,650,509
10,176,363 - - 101,485 10,277 B58
374,025 - - - 374,025
421,110 640,636 147 1,622,818 2,684,711
15,399,844 18,058,389 803,557 2,179,100 36,441,890
6,052,634 15,560,416 176,168 - 21,789,218
1,761,827 828,494 134,151 - 2724472
142,129 300,628 - 904,285 1,347,042
7,956,520 16,689,538 310,319 904,285 25,860,732
7,443,254 1,369,851 493,238 1,274,815 10,681,158
15,399,844 18,059,389 803,557 2179,100 36,441,890
300,000 - 245,280 11,017,717

10,472,437
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40.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has related party transactions with its associates, employee benefit plans and its directors and key management personnel.

Contributions to and accruals in respect of staff retirement benefits and other benefit plans are made in accordance with the actuarial
valuations / terms of the contribution plan. Remuneration of the key management personnel is determined in accordance with the terms of

their appointment. Other transactions are at agreed rates.

Details of balances and transactions with related parties as at the end of and during the year, other than those which have been disclosed

elsewhere in these financial statements are as follows:

2024 2023
Directors Key manage- Other related Directors Key Other related
ment parties* manage- parties*
personnel ment
(Rupees in '000)
Advances
Opening balance - 47,991 - - 79,776 -
Addition during the year - 2,000 - - 6,827 =
Repaid during the year - (8,190) - - (38,612) -
Closing balance - 41,801 - - 47,991 5
Other assets
Other receivable (associated) - - 18,077 - - 18,288
Deposits and other accounts
Opening balance - 73,835 1,651,712 - 89,441 1,132,111
Received during the year - 1,394,454 8,300,150 - 1,028,340 5,521,882
Withdrawn during the year - (1,331,947) (7,678,316) - (1,042,447) (5,102,281)
Closing balance - 136,342 2,173,546 - 75,334 1,551,712
Other Liabilities
Interest / mark-up payable - 802 16,818 - 758 61,819
Other liabilities - - - - - -
- bonus payable to Key Management - 8,871 - - 10,241 -
- payable to Iran Foreign Investment - -
Company - associate - - 11,855 - “ 12,713
- director fee payable L - S 1,500 -
Receivable from / (payable) to - - - - - =
defined benefit plan - - -
. : 2024 ; § 2023
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS Directors Key manage- Other related Directors Key Other related
ment parties* manage- parties*
personnel ment .
(Rupees in '000)
Income
Mark-up / return / interest earned ' - 2,100 - - 3,231 -
Expense
Mark-up / return / interest paid - 24,072 376,386 5 18,774 281,310
Operating expenses
Fees for Board & Committee Meeting 15,875 - - 13,750 - -
Allowances for Board & Committee Meeting - - - - - .
Managerial Remuneration ' - 141,678 - - 106,748 -
Cash Bonus / Awards 34,370 - 53,703 -
Contribution to defined contribution plan & 10,698 - - 7,925 -
Rent & house maintenance - 24,209 - - 23,235 -
Utilities - 6,968 - - 6,082 -
Medical - 10,811 - - 6,111 -
Conveyance ' - 18,267 - - 19,102 -
Others = 569 - - 2,860 -
Centribution to the defined contribution plan - - 15,725 - # 14,013
Payment to the defined benefit plan - - 14,885 - . 16,329
Charge for defined benefit plan - - 13,380 - - 21,978

* An associate and retirement benefits plans.
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CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE RATIO & LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS

Capital adequacy

As per requirements of SBP, the Bank is required to comply with the capital adequacy framework which comprises the
following capital standards: '

i)

i)

Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR):
The MCR standard sets the paid - up capital that the Company is required to hold at all times.

As of the statement of financial position date, the Company’s paid - up capital stands at Rs. 6 billion as against the
required MCR of Rs. 6 billion.

Capital Adequacy Ratlo:

The Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) assesses the capital requirement based on the risks faced by the banks/DFls.
The banks/DFls are required to comply with the CAR as specified by SBP on standalone as well as consolidated
basis.

During the year 2013, SBP issued revised instructions on the computation of CAR based on Basel il Capital
Reform as published by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. These instructions also specify the
transitional arrangements from 2013 to 2019 which have now fully implemented from 31 December 201 9.

Accordingly, the DFI has assessed and reported its Capital Adequacy Ratio in the financial statements on the basis
of Basel Ill requirements as prescribed by SBP.

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR):

Paid-up capital (net of losses) 6,000,000 6,000,000

Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR):

Eligible Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) Capital 7,455,982 6,137,654
Eligible Additional Tier 1 (ADT 1) Capital - -
Total Eligible Tier 1 Capital 7,455,982 6,137,654

Eligible Tier 2 Capital Il -
Total Eligible Capital (Tier 1 + Tier 2) 7,455,982 6,137,654

Risk Weighted Assets (RWAs):

Credit Risk 12,487,254 12,543,324
Market Risk 1,011,664 1,672,774
Operational Risk 2,967,610 2,558,700
Total 16,466,528 16,774,798
2024 2023
Required Actual Required Actual
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Adequacy ratio 6.00% 45.28% 6.00% 36.59%
Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio 7.50% 45.28% 7.50% 36.59%
Total Capital Adequacy Ratio 11.50% 45.28% 11.50% 36.59%

Standardized Approach of Basel Il is used for calculating Capital Adequacy for Credit and Market Risk while Basic
indicator Approach is used for calculating Capital Adequacy for Operational Risk.
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2024 2023

(Rupees in '000)
Leverage Ratio (LR):

Eligible Tier-1 Capital 7,455,982 6,137,654
Total Exposures 41,167,922 36,821,894
Leverage Ratio 18.11% 16.67%

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR):

Total High Quality Liquid Assets 15,159,901 4,721,000
Total Net Cash Outflow 10,260,112 2,488,417
Liquidity Coverage Ratio 1.48 1.90

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR):

Total Available Stable Funding 17,769,062 18,129,032
Total Required Stable Funding 15,186,515 15,611,204
Net Stable Funding Ratio 117% 116%

State Bank of Pakistan issued Green Banking Guidelines vide IH&SMEFD Circular No. 08 of 2017 with a view to
safeguarding against environmental risks emerging from banks and DFIs' businesses and operations. In order to align the
DFI with regulatory expectations, PICL has put in place a Green Banking Framework focusing on following three areas:

1) Environmental Risk Management

For increasing financial stability through management and mitigation of environmental Risks of Lending portfolio, PICL
has in place integration of environmental risk considerations into the credit risk assessment by introducing an
Environmental Risk Rating, which is part of the Credit Risk Assessment.

2) Business Facilitation

The DFI is pursuing a green portfolio through soliciting clients for Renewable Energy related Lending by offering the
SBP's Renewable Energy Refinance Scheme,

3) Own Impact Reduction
In order to reduce its own impact on environment, the DF| has set targets to lower its energy consumption, paper and

waste reduction, bring energy efficient equipments, and plantation of greenery in surroundings.

The full disciosures on the CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE RATIO & LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS as per SBP
instructions issued from time to time have been placed on the website. The link to the full disclosure is available at http:/
www.pairinvestment.com.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The primary risks associated with the Company's exposure are:

Credit Risk: the risk of loss resulting from client or counterparty default.

Market Risk: the exposure to market variables such as interest rates and equity prices.

Operational Risk: the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events, and therefore includes legal risk.

The Company manages risk through a sound framework based on risk principles which includes an optimal organizational
structure, risk assessment and monitoring processes. Credit & Risk Management function (CRMD) is mandated 1o
implement this framework as a function independent of business segments working under the guidance of Board's Risk
Management Committee (BRMC).
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The Company's Credit & Risk Management Department has BASEL Compliant, Credit, Market, Liquidity and
Operational Risk functions. Furthermore, Environmental Risk Management mechanism, through Green Banking
Framework, has been defined and is currently in implementation phase.

The Company's portfolio and exposures are governed through relevant policies, procedures and various risk
measurement techniques by adopting Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and Stress Testing with
a purpose to achieve efficiency, effectiveness and compliance. Internal Risk Rating mechanism and transaction level
risk analytics are in place to have ongoing risk sensitive assessment and reporting. The Company is more focused
towards implementing system based risk assessment in order to have more efficiency in overall risk management
processes.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss to the Company as a result of failure by a client or counterparty to meet its contractual
obligations. It is inherent in loans, commitments to lend, traded products, repurchase agreements (reverse repos),
placements and other lending transactions. The role of Credit Risk Management particularly includes:

- Participation in portfolio planning and management.

- Establishment of credit policies and standards that conform to regulatory requirements and the Company's overall
objectives.

- Working with Business Units in keeping aggregate credit risk exposure within the Company's risk appetite.
- Organizing portfolio reviews focusing on quality assessment, risk profiles, industry concentrations.
- Setting systems to identify significant portfolio indicators, problem credits and level of provisioning required.

The Company has designed an Internal Risk Rating Models and methodology to gauge credit risk elements in the
banking book of the Company.

The credit products mainly comprise of Fund based & Non-Fund based, including short term and long term financing,
project finance, term lending, reverse repurchase, bridge finance, investment in TFCs , sukuk bonds and placements
with financials institutions, etc. Exposures are collateralized by cash equivalents, fixed assets, and current assets
including property plant and equipment, land and building, hypothecation, pledge on stocks and receivables ‘as the
case may be. The Company manages limits and controls concentrations of credit risk as |dent|ﬁed in particular to
individual counterpames and groups, and to industries, where appropriate.

Concentrations of credit risk exist if clients are engaged in similar activities, or are located in the same geographic
_region or have comparable economic characteristics such that their ability to meet contractual obligations would be
similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. The Company sets limits on its credit exposure
to counterparty, to groups, and to industry, which are in line with SBP standards.

Stress testing on credit portfolio is being carried out on regular basis to assess the impact of defaults on Company's
earning and capital adequacy. Credit concentration, rating migration, default shocks and risk aggregation of large
exposures are few of the main shocks used to gauge the strength of Credit risk standing of the Company.

Credit Risk — General Disclosures Basel II/ Il specific

The Company is more focused on the intent of Basel I/ Il rather than just treating it as a regulatory requirement.
Therefere, in addition to the adoption of Standardized approach and reporting to SBP, the Company has already
adopted the practice of ongoing assessment as required under the advanced approaches of Basel Il .The Company has
adopted Pillar [ ICAAP requirements duly approved by the Board of Directors.

Credit Risk: Disclosure for portfolio subject to the Standardized Approach -

For the calculation of Risk Weighted Assets under Standardized Approach, external credit ratings have been used for
all exposures, where available, against banks lending, corporate lending and debt instruments. The external ratings are
further mapped with SBP ratings scale to arrive at risk weights of each transaction.




42.1.3 Types of exposures and ECAl's used

Exposures vis PACRA
Banks v v
Corporate o+ v/

Credit exposures subject to standardised approach

Exposures
Rating ~ Amount Deduction Net amount
Category Outstanding
cesees (RUPEES N '000) senmcasenmmameaccaace
Corporate 1 1,609,147 - 1,608,147
2 7,369,353 - 7,369,353
34 1,183,960 - 1,183,960
56 - s

Unrated 1 1,368,599 - 1,368,599
Unrated 2 274,674 - 274,674
Banks 288,245 - 288,245
Sovereigns 20,263,196 - 20,263,196
Retail Portfolio 9,458 - 9,458
Residential Mortgage Finance 56,260 - 56,260
Past Due Loans 382,785 - 382,785
Listed Equity investments 309,303 - 309,303
Unlisted Equity investments : 196,105 - 195,105
Cash and Cash Equivalents 213,742 - 213,742
Others 3,298,766 - 3,298,766
36,822,593 - 36,822,593

4214 Credit Risk: Disclosure with respect to Credit Risk Mitigation for Standardized approach - Basel Il specific

The credit policy of the Company covers credit risk mitigation process and requirements for all secured transactions.
Key elements include:

- Collateral type;

- Collateral quality and ranking;

- Collateral valuation process, and
- Margin requirements

Equitable Mortgage, Token Registered Mortgage, Hypothecation Charge Over Fixed Assets, Current Assets, Pledge of
Shares, Lending against Government Securities (for repo style transaction), GOP Guarantee and Pledge of stocks are
the main type of collaterals taken against the exposure.

Vs
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42.1.8

42.1.9

42.1.10

Contingencies and Commitments 2024 2023
----- (Rupees in "000) -=----

Credit risk by industry sector

Power (electricity), gas, water, sanitary - 300,000
Sugar 43,000 -

43,000 300,000

Credit risk by public / private sector

Public/ Government a a
Private 43,000 300,000

43,000 300,000

Concentration of Advances

The Company's top 10 exposures on the basis of total (funded and non-funded exposures) aggregated to Rs 4.83 billion
(2023: 5.29 billion) are as following:

2024 2023
------ (Rupees in "000) ---=---
Funded _ 4,835,098 5,292,714
Non Funded . < |
Total Exposure 4,835,098 5,292,714

The sanctioned limits against these top 10 exposures aggregated to Rs. 6.87 billion (2022: Rs. 5.72 billion).

Total Funded Classified therein 2024 2023
Provision Provision
Amount held ~ Amount held

(Rupees in '000)

OAEM 5 s = s
Substandard ' _ ' . - - -
Doubtful : ' - s BT - *
Loss ' ' 670,899 670,899 670,899 670,899

Total 670,899 670,899 670,899 670,899

Advances - Province/Region-wise Disbursement & Utilization

2024 2023
Disbursements Utilization ** Disbursements - Utilization **
* *

Punjab Sindh Federal Punjab Sindh Federal

Capital Capital
Territory - Territory -
Province / region Islamabad Islamabad

(Rupees in '000) (Rupees in '000)
Sindh 5,027,769 1,780,097 2,703,298 - 6,634,889 2,022,831 4,612,058 -

Total 5,027,769 1,780,097 2,703,298 - 6,634,889 2,022,831 4,612,058 -

* “Disbursements of Province/Region wise" refers to the place from where the funds are being issued by the banks to the
borrowers.

** “Utilization of Province/Region wise" refers to the place where the funds are being utilized by borrower.
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42.3

42.31

2024 2023
--------- (Rupees in '000) -==-n-n---
Reconciliation of financial assets and liabilities

Assets as per Statement of financial position 40,436,448 36,382,692
Less: Fixed assets 557,055 500,626
Less: Intangible assets 12,234 9,223
Less: Deferred tax assets 576,030 441,163
Less:
Advances, deposits, advance rent and other prepayments 93,456 30,752
Non-refundable deposits 1,583 1,583
Receivable from defined benefits plan 10,091 12,629
Other Assets 1,176,769 2,122,942
Advance Taxation (payments less provisions) 1,217,656 639,234
2,499,555 2,807,140
Interest Rate Sensitive Assets 36,791,574 32,624,540
Liabilities as per Statement of financial position 29,553,250 25,860,732

Deferred tax liabilities ' I s

Less:
Provision for compensated absences - -
Other Liabilities, 1,253,335 1,347,281
1,253,335 1,347,281
Other liabilities - yield 28,299,915 24,513,451

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and system or from
external events. PAIR Investment Company, in the light of SBP guidelines on Operational Risk Framework via BPRD
Circular# 04-2014 dated May 20, 2014, developed Operational Risk Management Framework considering the
regulatory guidelines and best practices in the market. PAIR Investment Company is adequately monitoring &
reporting the operational risk data as per regulatory guidelines and BoD approved Operational Risk policy. With the
implementation of Operational Risk Framework, the Company is being able to manage operational risks in a more
systematic way that includes analyzing current systems for data collection, migration, validation and retention for
current and historical reference and calculation.

The Company maintains a system of internal controls designed to keep operational risk at appropriate levels. Various
techniques/tools -used by the company for management of Operational Risk includes RCSAs (Risk Control Self
Assessment), KRIs (Key Risk Indicators) and Loss data management. The Company also has in place a business

-continuity plan for all critical functional areas for smooth functioning of operations.

Basel Ill Basic Indicator Apprc;ach is used for calculating the Capital Adequacy for Operational Risk.
Operational risk disclosure - Basel Il/lll specific

Basic Indicator approach of Basel II/ Il has been used to calculate Oberational Risk charge of the Company.
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of loss to the Company arising from its inability to meet obhgatzons as they fall due or to fund
growth in assets, without incurring unacceptable cost or losses.
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The Company's approach to liquidity management is to ensure, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet_%ts
obligations when due, under both normal and stressed conditions without incurring unacceptable losses or risking
sustained damage.

Liquidity risk policy has been designed that entails careful monitoring and control of the daily liquidity position, and
regular liquidity stress tests under a variety of scenarios. Scenarios encompass both normal and stressed market
conditions, including general market crises and the possibility that access to markets could be impacted by a stress
event affecting some part of the Company’s business.

The Company has developed Liquidity Risk Policy, which covers the techniques to gauge, monitor and report the
impact of potential liquidity risk indicators and its implications. Moreover, PAIR Investment maintain strict adherence
to SBP prescribed Liquidity Measures ensuring smooth liquidity i.e.: CRR, SLR, LCR and NSFR.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio

SBP issued BPRD Circular No. 8 dated June 23, 2016 advising implementation of Basel Il liquidity standards that
constitute two ratios, i.e., Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), and five monitoring
tools.

LCR is the measure of conversion capability of the Company's High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLAs) into cash to meet
immediate liquidity requirements over a 30 days horizon.

The Company calculates Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) on monthly basis as per the guidelines given in the above
mentioned circular. The objective of LCR is to ensure the short-term resilience of the liquidity risk profile which
requires the Company to maintain sufficient High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLAs) to meet stressed cash outflows over
a prospective 30 calendar - days period. As of 31 December 2024, the PAIR's LCR stood at 148% .

Governance of Liquidity Risk Management

Liquidity risk is managed through the liquidity risk policy approved by the Board. The Company has “zero tolerance”
for liquidity risk and will continue to maintain a comfortable margin of excess liquidity in the form of cash and readily
marketable assets to meet its funding requirements at any time.

Management of liquidity risk is accomplished through a formal structure which includes:

- Board of Directors (BOD)

- Risk Management Committee

- Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO)
- Treasury Division

- Risk Management Division & Middle Office

- Finance Division _

- Information Technology Division

The Board of Directors approves the liquidity risk policy and ensures, through quarterly reviews by the Risk
Management Committee of the Board, that the Company's liquidity risk is being managed prudently. Risk
Management Committee of the Board provides overall guidance in managing the Company's liquidity risk. Liquidity
position is monitored daily by the Treasury Division and the Middle Office and reviewed regularly by ALCO.

Funding Strategy

The Comapny's prime source of liquidity is it's own Capital and funding from other Financial Institutions. The
Company also have sizable Deposits Base in the form of Certificate of Investments. The Company is endeavouring to
diversify its funding sources and enhance its Long-Term funding options so as to minimize the Liquidity Risk




4

o—
|

eay oumg

L

PSas

o=

424.4

42.4.5

42.4.6
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Liquidity Risk Mitigation Techniques

Various tools and techniques are used to measure and monitor the possible liquidity risk. These include monitoring of
different liquidity ratios like Liquid Assets to Total Assets, advances to deposits, liquid assets to Clean Borrowing &
COls, Net Advances to Total Asset Ratio etc, which are monitored on regular basis against limits. Further, the DFI
also prepares the maturity profile of assets and liabilities to monitor the liquidity gaps over different time bands. The
DF| also ensures that statutory cash and liquidity requirements are maintained at all times.

In addition, LCR, NSFR & Monitoring Tools of Basel Il framework further strengthen liquidity risk management of the
company.

Liquidity Stress Testing

As per SBP BSD Circular No. 1 of 2012, Liquidity stress testing is being conducted under stress scenario. Shock
include the withdrawals of interbank and wholesale deposits. The Company's liquidity risk management addresses the
goal of protecting solvency and the ability to withstand stressful events in the market place. Stress testing for liquidity
as prescribed in the liquidity risk policy is carried out regularly to estimate the impact of decline in liquidity.

Contingency Funding Plan

Contingency Funding Plan (CFP) is a part of liquidity risk policy of the Company which identifies the trigger events
that could cause a liquidity contingency and describes the actions to be taken to manage it. The contingency funding

. plan highlights liquidity management actions that needs to be taken to deal with the contingency. CFP highlights

possible funding sources, in case of a liquidity contingency.

Main Components of LCR
Main components of LCR are High Quality Liquid Assets and Net Cash Outflows. Outflows are mainly deposit outflows

net of cash inflows which consist of inflows from financing and money market placements up to 1 month. The inputs
for calculation of LCR are based on SBP BPRD circular no. 08 dated 23 June 2016.

Composition of HQLAs

High Quality Liquid Assets consist of Level 1 Assets which are included in the stock .of liquid assets at 100%
weightage of their market value i.e., Cash & Treasury balances, Conventional Government Securities, GOP ljarah
Sukuks, Foreign Currency Sukuks & Bonds issued by sovereigns. While Level 2 Assets comprise all equity shares
(excluding shares of Financial Institutions) listed on PSX 100.

Concentration of Funding Sources

Almost half of the the Company's Balance sheet is funded by its own equity, while Borrowing from Financial
Institutions remain key source of funding. In order to diversify its funding sources, the Company has sizable Deposits
Base in the form of Certificate of Investment while Term Borrowings from the Central Bank and other Financial
Institutions are also tapped. '

Currency Mismatch in the LCR

About 99% of the Company's assets and liabilities are in local currency. Currency mismatch in other currencies is
regularly monitored.

Centralisation of Liquidity Management

Overall liquidity management of PAIR is centralised in Treasury & Investment Unit. While ALCO periodically monitors
the Liquidity Management of the Company.

Other Inflows & Outflows

Benefit of pledged deposits (deposits under lien) are not accounted for in calculation of LCR.
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43.

44,

441

44.2

44.3

45,

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Subsequent to the year end, the Board of Directors proposed a final cash dividend of PKR 2¢0 million (2023:
PKR 450 million}.

GENERAL

Comparative information has been re-classified, re-arranged or additionally incorporated in these financial statements
wherever necessary to facilitate comparison and better presentation.

Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand rupees, unless otherwise stated,

The Pakistan Credit Rating Agency Limited (PACRA) has maintained the long term entity rating to AA (Double A) and
the short term rating at A1+ (A one plus) of the Company.

DATE OF AUTHORISATION

These finapgial-st ts were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company in their meeting held on
Vi PR A e

Chairman Director
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